
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Shareholder 
Committee 
 
 

Agenda 
 
 

Tuesday, 26th November, 2024 
at 11.00 am 
 
 
 
in the 
 
 
 

Council Chamber 
Town Hall 
Saturday Market Place 
King’s Lynn 
 
Available for the public to view on WestNorfolkBC on You Tube 

 
 

 

https://www.youtube.com/user/WestNorfolkBC


 



 

 
 
 
 
King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 1EX 
Telephone: 01553 616200 
 
18 November 2024 
 
Dear Member 
 
Shareholder Committee 
 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the above-mentioned Committee which will be 
held on Tuesday, 26th November, 2024 at 11.00 am in the Council Chamber, 
Town Hall, Saturday Market Place, King's Lynn, PE30 5DQ to discuss the 
business shown below. 
 
Yours sincerely  
 
Chief Executive 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1.   Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 5 - 11) 

 To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2024. 

2.   Apologies for absence   
 

3.   Declarations of Interest  (Page 12) 

 Please indicate if there are any interests which should be declared.  A 
declaration of an interest should indicate the nature of the interest (if not 
already declared on the Register of Interests) and the agenda item to which it 
relates.  If a disclosable pecuniary interest is declared, the member should 
withdraw from the room whilst the matter is discussed. 

 

These declarations apply to all Members present, whether the Member is part 
of the meeting, attending to speak as a local Member on an item or simply 
observing the meeting from the public seating area. 

4.   Chair's correspondence   
 



5.   Members present under standing order 34   

 To note the names of any Councillors who wish to address the meeting under 
Standing Order 34. 
 
Members wishing to speak pursuant to Standing Order 34 should inform the 
Chair of their intention to do so and on what items they wish to be heard 
before a decision on that item is taken. 
 

6.   Urgent Business   

 To consider any business, which by reason of special circumstances, the 
Chair proposes to accept, under Section 100(b)(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

7.   Committee Forward Plan  (Pages 13 - 16) 
 

8.   Update on closure of Alive Management Ltd  (Pages 17 - 19) 
 

9.   Update on insourcing of Alive West Norfolk Ltd  (Pages 20 - 33) 
 

10.   Appointment of Directors to West Norfolk Housing  (Pages 34 - 36) 
 

11.   West Norfolk Property Shareholder Agreement  (Pages 37 - 80) 
 

12.   Date of future meeting   

 19 February 2025 at 10am 
15 April 2025 at 4.00pm 

 
To: 
 
Shareholder Committee: Councillors A Beales, C Morley and S Ring 
 
Officers 
 
Alexa Baker, Monitoring Officer 
Kate Blakemore, Chief Executive 
Michelle Drewery, S151 Officer 
Duncan Hall, Assistant Director, Regeneration, Housing and Place 
Honor Howell, Assistant to the Chief Executive 
Karl Patterson, Housing Development Officer 
 



 
1 

 

BOROUGH COUNCIL OF KING’S LYNN & WEST NORFOLK 
 

SHAREHOLDER COMMITTEE 
 

Minutes from the Meeting of the Shareholder Committee held on 
Wednesday, 11th September, 2024 at 10.00 am in the Council Chamber, 

Town Hall, Saturday Market Place, King's Lynn PE30 5DQ 
 

PRESENT: Councillor A Beales (Chair) 
Councillors C Morley and S Ring 

 
 

1   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube 
 
RESOLVED:  The Minutes of the meeting held on 23 April 2024 
were confirmed as a correct record. 
 

2   MATTERS ARISING  
 

By way of matters arising it was noted that the committee would meet 
quarterly to tie in with the Company Board meetings. 
 
The Chair referred to the matter raised by Councillor Ryves at the 
previous meeting regarding the Audit Committee being able to 
scrutinise the Companies.  It was noted that the Monitoring Officer was 
due to respond on the point, but it was also noted that the Audit 
Committee would be given access to Audits undertaken on the 
Companies, and the accounts were published documents, and the 
Corporate Performance Panel would be able to Scrutinise the 
Shareholder Committee.   
 
The Chair made reference to the Company’s finance that the risk 
premium could potentially be reduced from 2% to 1% because the level 
of loss wouldn’t be in the exceptional range because of the underlying 
assets purchased at the same time.   
 
He also asked for Finance to be added as a rolling item on the agenda.  
Councillor Ring also commented that the changing political agenda 
nationally could reduce risk for the companies. 
 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube 
 
Councillor A Ware declared a non pecuniary interest as a Council 
appointed director of the West Norfolk Housing Ltd and West Norfolk 
Property Ltd. 

5

Agenda Item 1

https://youtu.be/KRAS--KJLbQ?t=42
https://youtu.be/KRAS--KJLbQ?t=320


 
2 

 

 
Duncan Hall, Assistant Director  declared a non pecuniary interest as a 
Council appointed director of the West Norfolk Housing Ltd and West 
Norfolk Property Ltd. 
 
 

4   CHAIR'S CORRESPONDENCE  
 

None 
 

5   MEMBERS PRESENT UNDER STANDING ORDER 34  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube 
 
Councillor Ware attended under standing order 34. 
 

6   URGENT BUSINESS  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube 
 
The Committee’s attention was drawn to the resignation from the West 
Norfolk Housing Company Ltd by Councillor J Bhondi.    It was noted 
that this would need to be brought forward. 
 

7   COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube.  
 
The Committee forward Plan was noted with financing arrangements to 
be added as a standing item going forward.  It was noted that the 
portfolio details needed amending slightly. 
 

8   APPOINTING A DIRECTOR TO ALIVE MANAGEMENT LTD  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube.  
 
The Committee considered a report which explained that prior to the 
incorporation of Alive West Norfolk, the council’s sports and leisure 
facilities were managed by Alive Leisure, a Leisure Trust and Alive 
Management Ltd which provided the operational aspects of the service 
for Alive Leisure. 
 
Alive Management Ltd remained a live company of the borough 
council, although currently dormant since 2019. Steps were now being 
taken to formally wind the company down and arrange for it to be stuck 
off from Companies House. 
 

6

https://youtu.be/KRAS--KJLbQ?t=352
https://youtu.be/KRAS--KJLbQ?t=356
https://youtu.be/KRAS--KJLbQ?t=419
https://youtu.be/KRAS--KJLbQ?t=509


 
3 

 

Currently, there was only one Director for the company listed on 
Companies House. The Director was Debbie Gates, former Executive 
Director who retired from the council in June 2024. 
 
In order to complete the necessary work to formally close the company, 
permission is sought from the Shareholder Committee to appoint a 
further company director to Alive Management Ltd to provide resilience 
whilst the actions are carried out. 
 
The Committee noted that the appointment to the position was a 
reserve matter to the Shareholder Committee. 
 
The history to the Alive Management Board was explained that the 
senior Alive staff were employed by Leisure Trust, with Alive 
Management as a joint employer with the operational staff employed by 
Alive West Norfolk in order to maximise the VAT benefits. 
 
The Committee agreed that Oliver Judges, Executive Director be 
appointed Director of Alive Management Ltd to wind up the company. It 
was noted that there was no benefit in keeping the company running. 
 
The Committee also noted the resignation from West Norfolk Housing 
Company by Councillor J Bhondi.  It was agreed that a report come 
forward to appoint a new Director to West Norfolk Housing Company.  
 
RESOLVED:  1) That Executive Director, Oliver Judges be 
appointed as a Director of Alive Management Ltd whilst the company is 
formally wound up. 
 
2) That arrangements be put in place for the appointment of a 
replacement Director for West Norfolk Housing Co Ltd. 
 
Reason for Decision 
Although the Articles of Association for Alive Management Ltd stipulate 
a minimum of one Director, it is deemed to be prudent to appoint an 
existing member of staff as a director. 
 

9   UPDATE TO SHAREHOLDER COMMITTEE ON GOVERNANCE 
DOCUMENTS STATUS  
 

 
Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube.  
 
The Committee considered a report which explained that following work 
carried out by the council’s Audit Department, Position Statements for 
both of the council’s Housing Companies, West Norfolk Housing (WNHC) 
and West Norfolk Property (WNPL), were issued detailing 
recommendations to improve the governance framework of both 
companies. Work had been ongoing to finalise the governance 
arrangements of both companies to ensure all documentation was 
updated, signed, and placed on a rolling schedule of reviews. 

7

https://youtu.be/KRAS--KJLbQ?t=962


 
4 

 

 

The internal audit of WNPL in February 2024 made the following 
recommendations: 
 

 All governance and other documentation for WNPL required to 
meet the requirements of the Local Partnerships Local 
Authority Company Review Guidance 2023 edition 
documentation, to be completed and presented for sign off 
through the designated approval process, to include: 
o Service Level Agreement 
o Scheme of Delegation 

 That all governance documents were centrally stored and 
subject to version control 

 That the company websites were updated with the minutes, 
agendas, AGM details and Directors details. 

 Service Level Agreements were signed, and costs finalised 

 Business Plan be finalised to reflect the financing arrangements 

 Risk Register to be updated.  
 

Similarly, for West Norfolk Housing, the following recommendations 
were made: 

 

 Service Level Agreement (SLA) to be finalised and signed 

 Shareholder Agreement to be signed 

 Agree Key Performance Indicators as part of the SLA 
 
The report noted that in August 2024, West Norfolk Housing received a 
notification from the Housing Ombudsman Service that the company 
had failed to meet the annual submission deadline for performance 
against the Complaint Handling Code. An extension was granted by 
the Ombudsman to 19 September to comply with the requirement.  
 

It was reported that WNHC did not have a complaints policy in place, 
but Broadland Housing Association did have a policy, although it was 
last updated in 2022. Work was now progressing on putting the code 
into place. The performance results against the code were required to 
be published on the WNHC website.  
 
The following was now being put into place: 
The draft SLA for WNPL was due to go to the 17 September WNPL 
board meeting. KPI’s still needed to be agreed and fixed cost 
recharges (subject to indexation and council cost of living increases).  
 
The Scheme of Delegation for WNPL would be presented to the board 
on 17 September. 
 
The WNHC Shareholder Agreement was approved at a board meeting 
in October 2017 but not signed.  
 
A Probity Policy was currently in draft format for WNHC. This would go 
to a later board meeting.  

8



 
5 

 

 
As part of the Code of Governance 2020, WNHC were required to 
create an Audit and Risk Committee. This was also on the board 
agenda for 17 September.  
 
The Loan Agreement was being worked on by Anthony Collins so 
should be able to move forward shortly. 
 
Under standing order 34, Councillor Ware drew attention to the need 
for the documents to the Board meetings to be sent out in good time to 
allow them to be thoroughly read and drew attention to the fact that the 
Companies would need to take their own legal advice so would need 
time to get the advice in place.   
 
The Chair asked if there was sufficient resource to finalise the documents 
in the absence of the Governance Officer, to which the Governance 
Manager confirmed she would be able to finalise the work.  The Chair also 
expressed the hope to get the loan agreement in place, subject to the 
Director’s view, to use when required.  
 
Councillor Morley drew attention to the need for the Council to have 
information arrangements and SLAs in place to ensure the Council know 
what processes would affect people in residence, using the example of 
mould in properties.  D Hall agreed it was an important element. 
 
RESOLVED: That the detail of the points raised in the Audit of the 
Governance issues and progress made on the governance arrangements 
for the West Norfolk Housing, and West Norfolk Property Companies be 
noted.  

 

Reason for Decision  
To provide assurance to the Shareholder Committee that all 
recommendations made in the Position Statements are actioned and that 
the governance framework of the housing companies is robust and up to 
date.  
 

10   DATE OF FUTURE MEETING  
 

14 October 2024 at 3pm 
 

11   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube.  
 
RESOLVED: That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Act. 
 

9

https://youtu.be/KRAS--KJLbQ?t=1827


 
6 

 

12   SCRUTINY OF THIRD PARTY RELATIONSHIPS  
 

D Hall made reference to changes in regulations for housing providers, 
and their agents and the need to continually review arrangements and 
have oversight of their arrangements and reporting processes.  The 
complaints processes of Broadland Housing was being reviewed and 
assurance was given that officers were working on the reporting 
arrangements.  
 
A discussion was held on the resources required to carry out the work 
for the Companies and the scrutiny of the providers. It was noted that 
additional resources would be required going forward. 
 
A discussion was held on the changes to the Rent Reform Act and 
potential impact on providers, it was agreed that it would be kept under 
review. 
 
An advert for Independent Members was due to be placed shortly.  A 
potential independent person was put forward for initial discussion.  A 
round table discussion would be ideal for Job Descriptions etc for 
Board Members. 
 
Councillor Morley drew attention to the fact that there needed to be one 
step at a time for all the work being proposed as Shareholders for the 
Companies.  The Chair referred to the resources required for the 
processes. 
 
Councillor Ware expressed concern at the pace of progress for the 
documents to be produced. It was suggested that after the Board 
meeting next week, a further round table discussion be held to 
accelerate the work to be done. 
 
 

13   WEST NORFOLK HOUSING  BUSINESS PLAN  
 

D Hall presented the draft West Norfolk Housing Company Business 
Plan for the Committee’s consideration and comment.   
 
Points were raised on the draft by way of amendment: 

 The Company is to support the council in developing its housing 
goals. 

 Distinction between the 2 companies – the WNHC – not for profit to 
meet the housing objectives of the council, not revenue generating but 
assisting in the reduction of spend on B&B and temporary housing for 
the homeless, but must be financially sustainable. 

 The Social value of the company needed to be demonstrated.  

 
RESOLVED: That the draft West Norfolk Housing Company Business 
Plan be endorsed. 
 

10



 
7 

 

Reason for Decision 
To enable the Committee to consider and endorse the proposed 
Business Plan.  
 

14   WEST NORFOLK PROPERTY LTD BUSINESS PLAN  
 

D Hall, Assistant Director presented the Business Plan for West Norfolk 
Property Ltd which had been approved by its Board at the last meeting. 
 
Attention was drawn to the Renters Rights Bill which was presented in 
Parliament today.  Feedback from many private rented landlords was 
that they would not retain the properties, leading to a further shortage 
of PRS properties. 
 
It was noted that the transfer of properties to the Company was taking 
place, and there was great ambition for the company so going forward 
the long term plan for the company needed to be developed including 
housing and delivery planning. It was agreed that the cap on numbers 
to be developed should be removed. 
 
Following a comment on decarbonisation of the stock it was noted that 
because the properties were newly built the Company was in a better 
position than most on decarbonisation already meeting the 
requirements.. 
 
RESOLVED: That the West Norfolk Property Company Business Plan 
be noted. 
 
Reason for Decision 
To enable the Committee to consider and note the proposed Business 
Plan which had been agreed by West Norfolk Property Company Ltd.  
 

 
The meeting closed at 11.22 am 
 

 

11



 

 

            START 
 

          YES ←    → NO 

                      

                                                             YES ↙           ↓ NO 

  

                                                                                                                                            

 YES ←  

                                ↓ NO 

                       

           YES ←       

  

 ↓ NO 

                                                           ↓ YES                     ↓NO                                   

                

                                                           

                                                                                                YES   ↙               ↓ NO 

                                                                      

 YES ←   

      

  NO ← 

 

                                                                                                                         ↙ 

                                                                                        NO TO BOTH           YES TO ONE ↓ 

  

 

Does the matter directly 

relate to one of your DPIs?  

DECLARING AN INTEREST AND MANAGING 

ANY CONFLICTS FLOWCHART 

Does the matter directly 

relate to the finances or 

wellbeing of one of your ERIs? 
Declare the interest. You have 

a conflict and cannot act or 

remain in the meeting *  
Declare the interest. You have 

a conflict and cannot act or 

remain in the meeting *  

 

Does it directly relate to the 

finances or wellbeing of you, 

a relative or a close associate? 
Declare the interest. You have 

a conflict and cannot act or 

remain in the meeting * 

Does it affect the finances or 

wellbeing of you, a relative, a 

close associate or one of my 

ERIs? 

Declare the interest. Are you 

or they affected to a greater 

extent than most people? And 

would  a reasonable person 

think you are biased because 

of the interest?  

Does it relate to a Council 

Company or outside body to 

which you are appointed by 

the Council? 

* without a dispensation 
 
Glossary: 
DPI: Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest 
ERI: Extended Registrable 
Interest 

 

 

 

You have a conflict and 

cannot act or remain in 

the meeting * 

Take part 

as normal 

Does another interest make 

you that feel you cannot act 

in a fair, objective or open 

manner? Would a 

reasonable person knowing 

the same interest think you  

could not act in a fair, 

objective or open manner? 

Declare the 

interest. Do you, or 

would a reasonable 

person think there 

are competing 

interests between 

the Council and the 

company/outside 

body?  

Other actions to mitigate 
against identified conflicts: 
1. Don’t read the papers  
2. Tell relevant officers 
3. Ask to be removed from any 
email recipient chain/group 

 
 

You can remain the meeting if the Chair 

agrees, for you to speak in your external 

capacity only. Do not vote. 

You can take part in discussions but make 

clear which capacity you are speaking in. 

Do not vote.  

You have a 

conflict. Declare 

the interest. Do 

not participate and 

do not vote. 

Declare the interest for 

the sake of openness 

and transparency. Then 

take part as normal. 

12

Agenda Item 3



SHAREHOLDER COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN  

Date of 
Meeting 

Report Title Decision Maker Cabinet Member Lead and 
Lead Officer 

List of Background 
Papers 

Public or Private 
Meeting 

23 April 2024 Shareholder Committee 
Terms of Reference 

Shareholder 
Committee 

Leader 
Monitoring Officer – A Baker 

 Public 

 Responses from WNH and 
WNP regarding Section 21 
Notices 
 

 
Shareholder 
Committee 

Cllr Alistair Beales – Portfolio 
Holder Council Companies 
Alexa Baker – Monitoring 
Officer 
 

 Public 

 Financing of Housing 
Companies  
 

Cabinet Cllr Alistair Beales – Portfolio 
Holder Council Companies 
Michelle Drewery – Section 
151 Officer 
David Ousby – Assistant 
Director Programme and 
Project Delivery 

 Private – Contains 
exempt information 
under para 3 – 
information relating 
to the business affairs 
of any person 
(including the 
authority) 

Date of 
Meeting 

Report Title Decision Maker Cabinet Member Lead and 
Lead Officer 

List of Background 
Papers 

Public or Private 
Meeting 

June 2024 
Meeting 
Postponed 
 

Service Level Agreement with 
WNPL 

Shareholder 
Committee 

Cllr Alistair Beales – Portfolio 
Holder for Business 
Alexa Baker – Monitoring 
Officer 
Duncan Hall/Karl Patterson – 
Housing Companies 

  

 Shareholder Agreement - 
WNPL 

Shareholder 
Agreement 

Cllr Alistair Beales – Portfolio 
Holder for Business 
Alexa Baker – Monitoring 
Officer 
Duncan Hall/Karl Patterson – 
Housing Companies 

  

13

A
genda Item

 7



 
 
 
 

Approval of Business plans for 
WNP 
WNH 
 

Shareholder 
Committee 

Cllr Alistair Beales – Portfolio 
Holder for Business 
Alexa Baker – Monitoring 
Officer 
Duncan Hall/Karl Patterson – 
Housing Companies 

 Private – Contains 
exempt information 
under para 3 – 
information relating 
to the business affairs 
of any person 
(including the 
authority) 

 
 
 

Appointment of new Directors 
to WNPL 

Shareholder 
Committee 

Cllr Alistair Beales – Portfolio 
Holder for Business 
Alexa Baker – Monitoring 
Officer 

 Item scheduled at 
end of agenda should 
the committee 
determine to exclude 
the Press and Public 
to consider the 
report 
 

Date of 
Meeting 

Report Title Decision Maker Cabinet Member Lead and 
Lead Officer 

List of Background 
Papers 

Public or Private 
Meeting 

11 Sept 2024 Appointing a Director to Alive 
Management Ltd. 

Shareholder 
Committee 

Cllr Alistair Beales – Portfolio 
Holder for Business 
Honor Howell – Corporate 
Governance Manager 

 Open 

 Update to Shareholder 
Committee on governance 
documents status 

Shareholder 
Committee 

Cllr Alistair Beales – Portfolio 
Holder for Business 
Honor Howell – Corporate 
Governance Manager 

 Open 

 West Norfolk Housing and 
West Norfolk Property Draft 
Business Plans 

Shareholder 
Committee 

Cllr Alistair Beales – Portfolio 
Holder for Business – Alexa 
Baker – Monitoring Officer 
Duncan Hall/Karl Patterson – 
West Norfolk Housing 

 Private – Contains 
exempt information 
under para 3 – 
information relating 
to the business affairs 
of any person 
(including the 

14



authority) 

Date of 
Meeting 

Report Title Decision Maker Cabinet Member Lead and 
Lead Officer 

List of Background 
Papers 

Public or Private 
Meeting 

 
13 November 
2024 

Update on closure of Alive 
Management Limited 

Shareholder 
Committee 

Cllr Alistair Beales – Leader 
of the Council 
Honor Howell – Corporate 
Governance Manager 

  
 
Public 
 

 Update on insourcing of Alive 
West Norfolk Ltd 

Shareholder 
Committee 

Cllr Simon Ring – Portfolio 
Holder for Business and 
Culture 
Honor Howell – Corporate 
Governance Manager and 
Alive West Norfolk Client 
Officer 

  
Public 
 
 

 West Norfolk Property 
Shareholder Agreement 

Shareholder 
Committee 

Cllr Alistair Beales – Leader 
of the Council 
Karl Patterson – West 
Norfolk Property 

  
Public 
 
 

Date of 
Meeting 

Report Title Decision Maker Cabinet Member Lead and 
Lead Officer 

List of Background 
Papers 

Public or Private 
Meeting 

February 2025 6 monthly Assurance Report – 
West Norfolk Housing 

Shareholder 
Committee 

Cllr Alistair Beales – Leader 
of the Council 
Duncan Hall – Chair of West 
Norfolk Housing 
 

 Public 

 6 monthly Assurance Report – 
West Norfolk Property 

Shareholder 
Committee 

Cllr Alistair Beales – Leader 
of the Council 
Duncan Hall – Chair of West 
Norfolk Housing 
 

 Public 

 Update on insourcing of Alive 
West Norfolk Ltd 

Shareholder 
Committee 

Cllr Simon Ring – Portfolio 
Holder for Business and 
Culture 

  
Public 
 

15



Honor Howell – Corporate 
Governance Manager and 
Alive West Norfolk Client 
Officer 

 

 Financing of Housing 
Companies  
 

Cabinet Cllr Alistair Beales – Leader 
of the Council 
Michelle Drewery – Section 
151 Officer 
 

 Private – Contains 
exempt information 
under para 3 – 
information relating 
to the business affairs 
of any person 
(including the 
authority) 

May 2025 
 

     

August 2025 
 

     

November 2025 
 

     

 

16



  
REPORT TO SHAREHOLDER COMMITTEE 

 

Open/  
 

Would any decisions proposed: 
 
Be entirely within Shareholder Committee powers to decide 
 YES/NO 
Need to be recommendations to Council      YES/NO 
 

Is it a Key Decision    YES/NO 
  

Any especially 
affected 
Wards 

Mandatory/ 
 
Discretionary /  
 
Operational 

Lead Member: Cllr Alistair Beales 
E-mail: cllr.alistair.beales@west-norfolk.gov.uk 

Other Cabinet Members consulted:  

Other Members consulted:  

Lead Officer:  Honor Howell – Corporate 
Governance Manager 
E-mail: honor.howell@west-norfolk.gov.uk 
 

Other Officers consulted:  
Alexa Baker – Monitoring Officer 

Financial 
Implications  
YES/NO 
 

Policy/ 
Personnel 
Implications 
YES/NO 
 

Statutory 
Implications  
YES/NO 

 

Equal Impact 
Assessment 
YES/NO 
If YES: Pre-
screening/ Full 
Assessment 

Risk 
Management 
Implications 
YES/NO 

Environmental 
Considerations 
YES/NO 

If not for publication, the paragraph(s) of Schedule 12A of the 1972 Local Government Act considered 
to justify that is (are) paragraph(s)    

 
APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL DIRECTOR TO ALIVE MANAGEMENT 
LTD 
 
Date of meeting:  26 November 2024 
 
 

Summary  
 
Prior to the incorporation of Alive West Norfolk, the council’s sports and 
leisure facilities were managed by Alive Leisure, a Leisure Trust and Alive 
Management Ltd which provided the operational aspects of the service for 
Alive Leisure. 
 
Alive Management Ltd remains a live company of the borough council, 
although currently dormant. Steps are now being taken to formally wind the 
company down and arrange for it to be stuck off from Companies House. 
 
At the last Shareholder Committee, it was agreed that Oliver Judges, 
Executive Director would be appointed as a director to oversee the winding up 
of the company. The other existing Director, Deborah Gates, retired from the 
council in June 2024 and has advised that she wishes to resign as a company 
director with immediate effect.  
 
The Articles of Alive Management state that in order for a meeting to be 
quorate, two directors must be present at a meeting. Therefore, a further 
director will need to be appointed prior to the winding up of the company 
 
In order to complete the necessary work to formally close the company, 
permission is sought from the Shareholder Committee to appoint a further 

17

Agenda Item 8



company director to Alive Management Ltd to ensure a quorum can be 
achieved,  whilst the closure actions are carried out. 
 
Recommendation 
 

That Michelle Drewery, Assistant Director Resources is appointed as a 
Director of Alive Management Ltd whilst the company is formally wound up. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
Although the Articles of Association for Alive Management Ltd stipulate a 
minimum of one Director,  two are required for Alive Management to be 
quorate.  
 
 

T 
1 Background 
 
1.1 Prior to the incorporation of Alive West Norfolk, the council’s sports and 

leisure facilities were managed by Alive Leisure, a Leisure Trust and 
Alive Management Ltd which provided the operational aspects of the 
service for Alive Leisure. 

 
1.2 Alive Management Ltd remains a live company of the borough council, 

although currently dormant. Steps are now being taken to formally wind 
the company down and arrange for it to be stuck off from Companies 
House. 

 
1.3 At the Shareholder Committee of 11 September 2024, it was agreed 

that Oliver Judges, Executive Director would be appointed as a 
Director of Alive Management Ltd to oversee the winding up of the 
company. The other existing Director, Deborah Gates, retired from the 
council in June 2024 and has advised she wishes to resign as a 
company director with immediate effect. 

 
1.4 In order to complete the necessary documentation to formally close the 

company, permission is sought from the Shareholder Committee to 
appoint a further Director. Michelle Drewery, Assistant Director of 
Resources has agreed to fulfil this role as it is a short-term solution. 

 
2 Options Considered  
 
2.1 Although, in principle, Alive Management Ltd requires only one 

Director, that Director is no longer employed by the borough council. In 
order to ensure resilience and that Director input is received in a timely 
manner during the winding up process, an existing member of staff 
should be identified and appointed to the Alive Management Ltd Board 
of Directors. 

 
3 Policy Implications 
 

18



3.1 The appointment of Directors to the Boards of the council companies is 
a reserved matter for the Shareholder Committee. 

 
4 Personnel Implications 
 
4.1 There are no personnel implications. This is a short-term, 

unremunerated appointment. 
 
5. Environmental Considerations 
 
5.1 There are no Environmental Considerations.  
 
6. Statutory Considerations 
 
6.1 There are no statutory considerations. 
 
7. Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

 

7.1 Not applicable. 
 

8. Risk Management Implications 
 
8.1 Alive Management Ltd Articles of Association stipulate a minimum of 

one Director should be appointed at any time. However, it is agreed 
that a director should be a current employee of the borough council. 

 
9. Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted  
 
9.1 None 
 
10 Background Papers 
 

10.1 None. 
 

19



  
REPORT TO SHAREHOLDER COMMITTEE 

 

Open/  
 

Would any decisions proposed: 
 
Be entirely within Shareholder Committee powers to decide 
 YES/NO 
Need to be recommendations to Council      YES/NO 
 

Is it a Key Decision    YES/NO 
  

Any especially 
affected 
Wards 

Mandatory/ 
 
Discretionary /  
 
Operational 

Lead Member: Cllr Simon Ring 
E-mail: cllr.simon.ring@west-norfolk.gov.uk 

Other Cabinet Members consulted:  

Other Members consulted:  

Lead Officer:  Honor Howell – Corporate 
Governance Manager 
E-mail: honor.howell@west-norfolk.gov.uk 
 

Other Officers consulted:  
Alexa Baker – Monitoring Officer 
Charlotte Marriott – Corporate Policy Officer 

Financial 
Implications  
YES/NO 
 

Policy/ 
Personnel 
Implications 
YES/NO 
 

Statutory 
Implications  
YES/NO 

 

Equal Impact 
Assessment 
YES/NO 
If YES: Pre-
screening/ Full 
Assessment 

Risk 
Management 
Implications 
YES/NO 

Environmental 
Considerations 
YES/NO 

If not for publication, the paragraph(s) of Schedule 12A of the 1972 Local Government Act considered 
to justify that is (are) paragraph(s)    

 
INSOURCING OF ALIVE WEST NORFOLK – EXIT MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
Date of meeting:  26 November 2024 
 
 

Summary  
 
On 30 July 2024, Cabinet resolved to return the services currently operated 
by Alive West Norfolk to the council’s in-house management.  
 
Clause 29 of the Management Agreement (termination on notice) was served 
on Alive West Norfolk and work is being progressed to transfer the service 
back to the council by 31 March 2025 at the latest. 
 
Schedule 6 of the Management Agreement details an Exit Management Plan 
which describes the roles and responsibilities of the both the council and Alive 
West Norfolk to ensure the orderly transition of the Services to the Authority, 
as well as the principles upon which the Exit Management Plan is based.  
 
This report is to update the Shareholder Committee on the Exit Management 
Plan and to provide assurance that the transfer of the service back to the 
management of the council is smooth with a minimal amount of disruption to 
the service, for the public and staff. 
 
Recommendation 
 

The Shareholder Committee are requested to note the details of the Exit 
Management Plan and the responsibility of the council officers as well as the 
Directors of Alive West Norfolk and Alive West Norfolk staff to complete the 

20

Agenda Item 9



transfer. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
To ensure an orderly transition of the services delivered by Alive West Norfolk 
back to the council’s management by 31 March 2025. 
 

 
1 Background 
 
1.1 On 30 July 2024, Cabinet resolved to return the leisure services 

currently operated by the council’s wholly owned company, Alive West 
Norfolk, to the council’s in-house management.  

 
1.2 Clause 29 of the Management Agreement (termination on notice) was 

served on Alive West Norfolk Board of Directors and work is being 
progressed to transfer the service back to the council by 31 March 
2025 at the latest.  
 

1.3 Schedule 6 of the Management Agreement prescribes an Exit 
Management Plan is required which describes the roles and 
responsibilities of both the council and Alive West Norfolk to ensure the 
orderly transition of the service back to the authority, as well as the 
principles upon which the Exit Management Plan is based.  
 

1.4 The Exit Management Plan serves as the pre-cursor to the 
development of the Heads of Terms for a formal Transfer Agreement.  
 

2 The Exit Management Plan (Appendix A) 
 

2.1 The key objectives of the Exit Management Plan are: 
 

 Successful transfer of the Services back to the Authority; 
ensuring continuity of the Services 

 Minimising any impact and disruption for service users and staff 

 Compliance with all legal, regulatory,  

 and financial obligations 

 Protection of staff employment rights 

 Secure transfer of data and intellectual property  

 Smooth transition of contracts and leases 

 Handover of assets and equipment 
 
2.2 The Alive West Norfolk Board of Directors and the Shareholder agree 

the following principles will apply to the transfer: 
 

 Achieving the best outcomes in the public interest 

 Collaboration and commitment to a smooth transfer 

 Transparency of the process 

 Good governance to evidence how the transfer was 
implemented 

 

21



2.3 A meeting has been held with the Board of Directors of Alive West 
Norfolk to discuss and agree the Exit Management Plan and the 
principles underpinning the plan.  
 

3 Options Considered  
 
3.1 None. The Management Agreement stipulates an Exit Management 

Plan shall be in place in the event of the termination of the agreement. 
The Plan will continue to operate until all post-transfer actions are 
complete.  

 
4 Policy Implications 
 
4.1 There are no policy implications.  
 
5 Personnel Implications 
 
5.1 There are no Personnel implications as a direct result of the Exit 

Management Plan. All implications are being managed through the HR 
workstream and Project Manager. 

 
6. Environmental Considerations 
 
6.1 There are no Environmental Considerations.  
 
7. Statutory Considerations 
 
7.1 The Management Agreement specified that an Exit Management Plan 

will be agreed when the notice of termination of the agreement has 
been served.  

 
8. Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

 

8.1 Not applicable. 
 

9. Risk Management Implications 
 
9.1 The Exit Management Plan sets out the key workstreams and actions 

which are required to take place to ensure the smooth transition of the 
service back to the council. Failure to identify key areas of key could 
place the transfer at risk of not completing within the timescales 
required. A formalised plan will ensure both the council and Board are 
fully aware of their roles and responsibilities for the transfer.  

 
10. Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted  
 
10.1 None 
 
11 Background Papers 
 

11.1 Cabinet Report 30 July 2024. 
 

22



   

 

  

LEISURE AND CULTURAL 

SERVICES MANAGEMENT 

AGREEMENT  

 

 

EXIT MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 

NOVEMBER 2024 

VERSION 1 
 

23



 

1 
 

1. Parties  

A. The Borough Council of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk of Chapel Street, Kings 

Court, King’s Lynn, Norfolk PE30 1EX (the Authority); 

 

B. Alive West Norfolk incorporated and registered in England and Wales with 

company number 11802914 whose registered office is at Borough Council of 

King’s Lynn and West Norfolk, Chapel Street, King’s Court, King’s Lynn, 

Norfolk PE30 1EX (the Supplier) 

together the Parties.  

2. Introduction 

2.1. The Parties entered a contract for the provision by the Supplier to the Authority of 

leisure and cultural services (the Services) via a Management Agreement which 

commenced in 2019.  

2.2. The Supplier is a local authority-controlled company, limited by guarantee. The 

Authority is the sole guarantor of the Supplier.  

2.3. The Authority decided on 30 July 2024 to return the Services to an in-house provision, 

and the Supplier was made aware of this at the time. Formal notice confirming the 

decision was provided by letter to the Supplier dated 18 October 2024. 

2.4. The Management Agreement provides that where the Management Agreement is 

terminated, the parties will agree the terms of an Exit Management Plan and the 

Supplier shall co-operate fully with the Authority to ensure an orderly migration of the 

Services to the Authority. Schedule 6 of the Management Agreement is entitled ‘Exit 

Management Plan’ and is attached as Appendix 1.  

2.5. The Supplier will continue to exist as a corporate entity after the transfer of the 

Services, with a serving board of directors. The Authority, in its capacity as guarantor of 

the Supplier, will engage with the Supplier outside the terms of this Exit Management 

Plan on the necessary actions to determine the future of the Supplier as a corporate 

entity.  

2.6. The Parties acknowledge that the Supplier has already provided the information and 

data set out at paragraph 2.1 of Schedule 6 of the Management Agreement.  

3. Purpose 

3.1. The purpose of this Exit Management Plan is to set out the agreement between the 

Parties on how the transfer of the Services to the Authority (the Transfer) will happen. 

3.2. It is intended that this Exit Management Plan will serve as the pre-cursor to the 

development of the heads of terms for a Transfer Agreement.  

3.3. The Exit Management Plan will continue to operate until all post-Transfer actions are 

complete. 

3.4. The Parties intend that this Exit Management Plan will be a live, agile and flexible 

agreement between them, capable of variation as required, save in respect of section 

6. Any variation agreed by the Parties will be incorporated into a revised Exit 

Management Plan that is dated on the front page with the relevant ‘version’ number.  

24



 

2 
 

4. Objectives 

4.1. The key objectives of the Exit Management Plan are: 

4.1.1. Successful transfer of the Services back to the Authority; ensuring continuity 

of the Services; 

4.1.2. Minimising any impact and disruption for service users and staff; 

4.1.3. Compliance with all legal, regulatory, and financial obligations; 

4.1.4. Protection of staff employment rights; 

4.1.5. Secure transfer of data and intellectual property; 

4.1.6. Smooth transition of contracts and leases; 

4.1.7. Handover of assets and equipment. 

4.2. In addition, the Exit Management Plan will comply with Schedule 6 of the Management 

Agreement attached as Appendix 1.  

5. Principles 

5.1. The Parties agree that the following principles will apply to the Transfer: 

5.1.1. Achieving the best outcomes in the public interest; 

5.1.2. Collaboration and commitment to a smooth Transfer; 

5.1.3. Transparency of the process; 

5.1.4. Good governance to evidence how the Transfer was implemented. 

5.2. The Parties recognise that the Authority is the sole guarantor of the Supplier and 

ultimately the cost of the Transfer is borne by the public purse.  

6. Termination of Management Agreement  

6.1. The Parties agree that the Management Agreement terminates on 31 March 2025.  

6.2. The Parties will use all reasonable endeavours to agree the heads of terms for a 

Transfer Agreement by 31 January 2025.  

6.3. The Parties agree to use all reasonable endeavours to enter a Transfer Agreement 

which will take effect at midnight on 1 April 2025.  

7. Key workstreams for Exit Management Plan 

7.1. Key workstreams required to complete the Transfer are:  

7.1.1. Staff – including TUPE, payroll, pensions, staff T&Cs and staff 

communications (including briefing sessions) 

7.1.2. Finance – including transfer of back-office finance functions and determining 

fees and charges for 2025/2026  

7.1.3. Data & Information Security – data transfer and the security of the data 

transfer  

7.1.4. Assets, Leases & Contracts – termination of leases and asset transfer, 

including intellectual property and contract novation 

7.1.5. Communications & Stakeholder Engagement – internal and external 

communications 

25



 

3 
 

8. Reporting 

8.1. The Authority will provide weekly written updates to the Supplier on the progress 

against the Exit Management Plan.  

8.2. Monthly meetings will be scheduled between the Authority and Supplier to report 

against projected compliance with the Exit Management Plan and determine any 

changes or additions that need to be made to the Exit Management Plan. 

9. Timeline and Key Milestones  

9.1. Actions to facilitate the transfer will be completed by 31 March 2025, with full 

implementation from 1 April 2025.  

9.1.1. November 2024 – December 2024  

9.1.1.1. Identified workstreams to be progressed.  

9.1.1.2. By 30 November 2024, Authority to provide draft heads of terms 

for Transfer Agreement to Supplier (Heads of Terms).  

9.1.1.3. Supplier to carry out modelling of fees and charges for 2025/26 

and provide recommendations on increases to the Authority.  

9.1.2. January 2025 – February 2025  

9.1.2.1. Supplier to be provided with the Authority’s preferred model for 

fees and charges, and thereafter the Supplier’s Board of directors 

to determine the fees and charges for 2025/2026  

9.1.2.2. Supplier to take appropriate actions to implement the increases in 

fees and charges 

9.1.2.3. By 6 January 2025, Supplier to provide comments on draft Heads 

of Terms  

9.1.2.4. By 31 January 2025, Heads of Terms to be agreed. 

9.1.2.5. By 28 February 2025, Parties to enter Transfer Agreement with 

commencement date of 1 April 2025.  

9.1.2.6. Staff briefings  

9.1.2.7. TUPE processes initiated  

9.1.2.8. Work to transfer Supplier staff to Authority HR and Payroll systems   

9.1.2.9. Contract novation processes initiated  

9.1.2.10. Supplier to formally write to their customers to notify them of the 

transfer, change of direct debit details, data controller and provide 

an updated privacy notice.  

9.1.2.11. Other identified workstreams to be progressed  

9.1.3. February 2025 – March 2025 

9.1.3.1. Additional staff briefings if required  

9.1.3.2. TUPE processes to continue  

9.1.3.3. Other workstream actions to be progressed  

9.1.3.4. Work to finalise integration of systems and back-office functions.  

26



 

4 
 

9.1.4. March 2025 – April 2025 

9.1.4.1. Additional staff briefings if required  

9.1.4.2. TUPE processes continue  

9.1.4.3. Termination of the Management Agreement  

9.1.4.4. Termination of leases, in line with the termination of the 

Management Agreement  

9.1.4.5. From 1 April 2025, Transition implemented.  

9.1.5. 1 April 2025 onwards - Post-transition  

9.1.5.1. Welcome and integration of Supplier staff  

9.1.5.2. TUPE processes continue – communications to staff to 

immediately following the Transfer  

9.1.5.3. Plan for Supplier close-down will be generated  

9.1.5.4. Post transfer project review  

10. Workstream 1 – Staff Transfer Arrangements (Including TUPE) 

10.1. All of the Supplier’s staff will transfer to the Authority. This includes all permanent, fixed 

term and casual workers.  

10.2. In accordance with the arrangements put in place when the Supplier was created, the 

Supplier’s staff have continued to be employed on the same terms and conditions of 

employment as Authority staff.  This means that there are no implications that need to 

be addressed with regards to conditions of service in preparation for the transfer taking 

effect.  However, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 

(TUPE) still apply to this transfer. Key actions to ensure this include: 

10.2.1. Staff Communication and Consultation: The Communication Plan (draft 

copy to follow) will be implemented. This covers: 

10.2.1.1. Communication with staff at key points in the process, using a 

range of channels.  This has included informing staff about the 

transfer and the TUPE process and giving named contacts to 

approach if they have queries or concerns. Particular attention will 

be given to communicating with Supplier employees who were not 

part of previous transfers who may be unfamiliar with the process.   

10.2.1.2. Engaging with Unison at an early stage and ensuring Unison 

representatives are fully involved in supporting employees 

throughout the process.  

10.2.1.3. Formal consultation, which may be required with a small number 

of staff whose job roles are directly impacted by the transfer.  

These staff have been identified and will be consulted about any 

proposals which may impact upon them in accordance with the 

Authority’s agreed consultation procedures. 

10.2.2. Administration to support the Transfer: A range of work must be completed 

by the Authority to support the Transfer on a practical level, to comply with 

TUPE requirements, ensure payroll arrangements are adjusted and that 

Supplier employees are assimilated into Authority processes.   

27



 

5 
 

10.2.3. Pension Schemes: Arrangements to review the current pension pooling 

arrangements put in place when the Supplier was established have been 

discussed with the Norfolk Pension Fund and will be actioned at the point the 

Transfer takes effect.  

10.2.4. Redundancy Risk: All supplier staff will transfer to the Authority’s 

employment as part of the TUPE process. The protection of rights under 

TUPE endures for the remainder of each member of staff’s employment 

therefore the Authority will ensure that any redundancy process at any time is 

compliant with TUPE.  

11. Workstream 2 – Finance  

Financial Considerations 

11.1. There are several key processes within finance which need to take place for the 

effective transfer of the Services back to the Authority. The finance team are aware that 

some of the processes identified will interlink and may include various smaller 

elements. A strict timetable will be adhered to, to ensure a smooth transition and 

ensure business continuity. An overview is as follows:  

11.1.1. Accounts Payable: All suppliers of the Supplier will need to be written to in 

advance of the transfer to explain the change, and will need to be set up 

under the Authority and any issues, including CIS implications will need to be 

assessed. This ideally needs to take place at least 2 months before the 

transfer date to ensure continuation of service. 

11.1.2. Accounts Receivable: All Supplier customers will need to be notified of the 

change and any direct debit mandates will need to be closed and a new 

mandate raised. Supplier customers will need to be migrated into the 

Authority’s finance system and reconciled accordingly. 

11.1.3. Banking/systems: Bank accounts/credit cards will need setting up under the 

Authority and the Supplier’s accounts closed. Membership direct debits need 

to be transferred to the new bank account. Payment systems will need to be 

updated, including merchant IDs. The Authority’s Finance and ICT teams will 

need to work with the Supplier to ensure a smooth transition and avoid 

disruption to the Services. 

11.1.4. Unit 4 Integration: The Supplier’s current structure will be integrated within 

the Authority’s finance system. A review of cost centres, codes, 

customer/supplier accounts, authorisation levels will need to be undertaken. 

Fees and charges process for 2025-26  

11.2. The Management Agreement has a mechanism in place for determining fees and 

charges. However, having regard to the ongoing transfer of the Services which will 

result in the Authority taking on for the financial impact for any fees and charges set by 

the Supplier for 2025/2026, the Parties agree to vary the process for determining fees 

and charges for 2025/2026 as follows:  

11.2.1. The Authority requests that the Supplier model increases to fees and charges 

based on the board of directors’ professional view of what the increases 

should be, applying an underlying principle of CMI + 1,2,3,4,5%. 

11.2.2. The Supplier provides a set of recommendations from the board of directors 

on increases to fees and charges plus the models to the Authority to consider 

28



 

6 
 

alongside their budget setting process.  

11.2.3. The Authority will consider the recommendations and provide a position to the 

Supplier on the Authority’s preferred model of increases. 

11.2.4. The Supplier determines the fees and charges for 2025/2026 and carries out 

appropriate actions to implement the increases.  

11.3. This Exit Management Plan does not fetter any rights the Authority has under the 

Supplier’s Articles of Association.  

12. Workstream 3 – Data and Information Security 

12.1. Information and data governance in the project must ensure compliance with data 

protection regulations, including the General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR) 

and any other relevant laws.  

12.2. It is anticipated there is no significant data migration required for the project as part of 

the Transfer, since the data for customers and staff are already held on the Authority’s 

systems.  

12.3. Customer data will see a change in data controller from the Supplier to the Authority. 

12.4. Privacy notices will be updated to reflect the new data controller, informing individuals 

of their rights and any implications this change has on their data. A renewed privacy 

notice shall be sent to customers prior to the Transfer.  

12.5. Key Actions: The Authority, together with the Supplier will: 

12.5.1. Map out all the data that needs to be transferred, including supplier contracts, 

policies and operational procedures, performance metrics, and details of all 

digital systems. All general records should also be covered off, e.g. 

claims/complaints, audit information etc. 

12.5.2. Identify all datasets affected by the controller change and privacy notice 

update. 

12.5.3. Ensure the Authority complies with GDPR by informing individuals/suppliers of 

the data transfer. 

12.5.4. Review the data processing agreements with third parties to ensure they align 

with the new controller's obligations. 

12.5.5. Update privacy notices to clearly inform customers of the change in data 

controller and to specify any impact on data processing practices. Circulate 

new privacy notice to customers via post/email/website pages. 

12.5.6. Although no data transfer will take place, reinforce existing cybersecurity 

protocols to ensure the secure handling of data under the new controller. 

12.6. Post-Transfer: 

12.6.1. The Authority shall review and align data retention policies with the new data 

controller requirements, ensuring they comply with GDPR. 

12.6.2. The Parties shall agree a plan for the destruction of data held by the Supplier 

post-transfer, where it no longer serves a legitimate business purpose or 

operational need. 

12.6.3. The Authority will need to update and reflect the post-Transfer arrangements  

within its Retention Schedules and Record of Processing Activities (ROPA). 

29



 

7 
 

12.6.4. The Parties shall set up access protocols to ensure the Authority can access 

any necessary Supplier data post-transfer. 

14.1.1 The Parties shall jointly ensure retention of data necessary for ongoing 

services, billing, and compliance. 

13. Workstream 4 – Assets, Leases and Contracts  

Asset Transfer 

13.1. The majority of assets are already owned by the Authority. The Supplier has provided a 

list of assets owned by the Supplier.  The Supplier also holds cash balances.  

13.2. The Supplier will provide an updated register of the assets it owns (including a current 

statement of the cash it holds) upon request by the Authority.  

13.3. The assets will transfer within the Transfer Agreement, to the effect that: 

13.3.1. The Supplier shall transfer all rights, title and interest in the assets (to be set 

out in a schedule) to the Authority for a nominal sum (the sum of one 

peppercorn (£0.01)), which the Authority agrees to pay upon the date of 

Transfer. 

13.3.2. The Supplier warrants that it has full legal title to the 

Assets and that the Assets are free from any 

encumbrances or liens. 

13.4. The Authority acknowledges that the Supplier may incur costs between the termination 

of the Management Agreement and the date on which it is wound up. The Authority will 

agree to indemnify the Supplier for all such costs in return for subrogation rights to 

manage any claims that may arise either by or against the Supplier.   

13.5. Condition surveys for the Supplier facilities were conducted in 2022. The Parties agree 

that these are a true reflection of the current conditions and recent enough to not 

warrant conducting further surveys. 

Intellectual Property (IP)   

13.6.  Clause 27.1 of the Management Agreement provides that all IP created by the 

Supplier and its staff in the course of performing the services are the property of the 

Authority. There is no need to transfer any IP, but for the sake of completeness, will be 

dealt with in the Transfer Agreement.  

Termination of Leases  

13.7.  The Supplier-leased properties that have formal leases are as follows: 

13.7.1. Corn Exchange, King’s Lynn  

13.7.2. St James Swimming & Fitness, King’s Lynn  

13.7.3. Lynnsport, King’s Lynn  

13.7.4. Oasis Leisure Centre, Hunstanton  

13.8. Other properties operated by the Supplier that are covered by the provisions of the 

Management Agreement are: 

13.8.1. Downham Market Leisure Centre, Downham Market  

13.8.2. Town Hall, King’s Lynn  

30



 

8 
 

13.8.3. South Lynn Community Centre, King’s Lynn 

13.8.4. Fairstead Community Centre, King’s Lynn  

13.9. Within the leases and the Management Agreement there are a number of options 

relating to lease termination. 

13.10. Under clause 9.2 of the Management Agreement, the Leases will terminate 

automatically upon termination of the Management Agreement.1   

Novation of Contracts  

13.11. The Supplier’s third-party contracts cover a range of subjects and involve varying 

commercial relationships.  Pending discussion with the counterparty in each case, 

various approaches may be needed to transfer the contractual relationship from the 

Supplier to the Authority. 

13.12. The Authority and the Supplier have currently worked on the basis that all the existing 

contracts should be transferred in the interests of continuity. Before steps are taken to 

novate contracts, this should be double-checked, as there may be an opportunity to 

exit contracts upon the winding-up of the Supplier.  

13.13. In the first instance, the Authority proposes to write to each counterparty and simply 

seek their agreement to the Authority taking over as the assignee. Where this is 

accepted, the contractual mechanism will be simple to arrange. 

13.14. In the event it is not possible to achieve novation, the Authority may determine to 

make new third-party arrangements. The Supplier and the Authority will work together 

to facilitate this.  

14. Workstream 5 – Communication and Stakeholder Engagement  

14.1. Outlined below are the identified objectives and key “strands” of the Communication 

and Consultation plan (draft to follow). The plan identifies specific key stakeholders 

(internal, partners and external) and a detailed activity plan with actions and key 

dates for communicating with those stakeholders via appropriate channels.  

14.2. Communication objectives: 

14.2.1. Continue to share clear, consistent messages about the transfer in a timely 

manner with both Supplier and existing Authority staff, to update colleagues at 

relevant points in the HR process; 

14.2.2. Make sure front-facing staff, customer services colleagues and councillors 

have the key messages in a timely manner in case of any public enquiries; 

14.2.3. Deliver proportionate, supportive communications around the Direct Debit 

letters being sent out, in order to reduce the risk of customer enquiries or of 

fraudsters using it as an opportunity; 

14.2.4. Welcome Supplier colleagues into the Authority and support their on-boarding 

process; 

14.2.5. Generally, support openness and transparency around the in-housing 

process. 

                                                           
1
  For completeness, the operation of clause 9.2 is stated to be subject to clause 9.4, but this does not 

apply in the current circumstances. 

31



 

9 
 

14.3. Key communication strands: 

14.3.1. Ongoing concurrent and consistent updates for Supplier staff and existing 

Authority staff (as required) at key points in the HR process – letters, emails 

and briefing sessions; 

14.3.2. Dispatch advisory Direct Debit letters to relevant leisure centre customers, to 

give notice of the Transfer – supportive communications around this 

milestone;  

14.3.3. Embedding Supplier colleagues within the Authority’s community of 

colleagues, ensuring key internal communications and engagement 

opportunities are inclusive of Supplier staff; 

14.3.4. Marking completion of transfer - Internal, partner and external 

communications on the date the transfer is fully complete – ensuring 

transparency and, internally, formally welcoming Supplier colleagues into the 

organisation. 

15. Risk Management and Contingency Planning 

15.1. A comprehensive risk register has been developed and includes potential risks such 

as staff becoming unsettled, impacts on business continuity, data breaches during the 

transfer and workstream delays. This risk register will be reviewed throughout the 

project to monitor any changes, emerging risks and mitigating activities. 

15.2. The risk register highlights mitigating actions for all potential risks identified.  

15.3. A copy of the risk register is available on request.   

16. Post-Transfer  

16.1. The Parties agree to resolve any miscellaneous matter that arises in accordance with 

the objectives and principles of this Exit Management Plan.  

16.2. Once the transfer is complete, a ‘post-project’ review will be conducted to ensure that 

all aspects of the Transfer have been successfully executed and to identify any areas 

for improvement in future transitions. 

 

The Parties have executed this Exit Management Plan on                                             2024 

 

Signed and executed on behalf of the Borough Council of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 

 

Name: __________________________ 

Position:_________________________ 

Signature: ________________________ 

 

Signed and executed on behalf of Alive West Norfolk  

32



 

10 
 

Name: __________________________ 

Position:_________________________ 

Signature: ________________________ 

33



  
REPORT TO SHAREHOLDER COMMITTEE 

 

Open/Exempt 
 

Would any decisions proposed: 
 
Be entirely within Shareholder Committee powers to decide 
 YES/NO 
Need to be recommendations to Council      YES/NO 
 

Is it a Key Decision    YES/NO 
  

Any especially 
affected 
Wards 

Mandatory/ 
 
Discretionary /  
 
Operational 

Lead Member: Cllr Alistair Beales 
E-mail: cllr.alistair.beales@west-norfolk.gov.uk 

Other Cabinet Members consulted:  

Other Members consulted: WNH – Board Members 

Lead Officer:  Honor Howell – Corporate 
Governance Manager 
E-mail: honor.howell@west-norfolk.gov.uk 
 

Other Officers consulted:  
Alexa Baker – Monitoring Officer 
Personnel  

Financial 
Implications  
YES/NO 
 

Policy/ 
Personnel 
Implications 
YES/NO 
 

Statutory 
Implications  
YES/NO 

 

Equal Impact 
Assessment 
YES/NO 
If YES: Pre-
screening/ Full 
Assessment 

Risk 
Management 
Implications 
YES/NO 

Environmental 
Considerations 
YES/NO 

If not for publication, the paragraph(s) of Schedule 12A of the 1972 Local Government Act considered 
to justify that is (are) paragraph(s)    

 
APPOINTMENT OF ADDITIONAL DIRECTORs TO WEST NORFOLK 
HOUSING LTD 
 
Date of meeting:  26 November 2024 
 
 

Summary  
 
West Norfolk Housing Company currently has 5 Directors. This is the 
minimum number as laid out in the company’s Articles of Association which 
states a minimum of 5 and maximum 12 Directors are required for the Board. 
The company recently invited applications for people to join the Board of 
Directors and interviews have recently taken place. 
 
Recommendation 
 

That the Shareholder Committee approve the appointment of Mark Eldridge 
and Lorraine Gore as Directors of West Norfolk Housing Limited.  
 
Reason for Decision 
 
To increase the number of independent directors on the Board of West 
Norfolk Housing Ltd 
 

 
1 Background 
 
1.1 West Norfolk Housing Company currently has five Directors although 

the Articles of Association stipulate a maximum of twelve. It is 

34

Agenda Item 10



considered best practice for local authority companies to have Board 
members which are neither officers of the council or elected members 
to strengthen the independence of the company and to ensure the 
Directors possess a range of skills relevant to the functions and 
priorities of the company.  

 
1.2 Following the recent resignations of two Directors, West Norfolk 

Housing Company recently invited applications for people to join the 
Board of Directors. A formal interview and selection process was 
carried out  

 
1.3 Two applicants were identified as suitable to the role of Director of 

West Norfolk Housing Company Ltd, having the required skills, 
knowledge, and experience to contribute to the success of the 
company. 

 
1.4 Mark Eldridge and Lorraine Gore were selected as suitable applicants 

for appointment to the Board of West Norfolk Housing Company.  
 
2 Options Considered  
 
2.1 Not applicable.  
 
3 Policy Implications 
 
3.1 The appointment of Directors to the Boards of the council companies is 

a reserved matter for the Shareholder Committee. 
 
4 Personnel Implications 
 
4.1 There are no personnel implications.  
 
5. Environmental Considerations 
 
5.1 There are no Environmental Considerations.  
 
6. Statutory Considerations 
 
6.1 There are no statutory considerations. 
 
7. Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

 

7.1 Not applicable. 
 

8. Risk Management Implications 
 
8.1 Failure to recruit Board Directors for the council companies will result in 

the companies not demonstrating their independence and the 
companies will lack directors with the relevant skills and experience to 
steer the companies and implement the business plans.  

 
9. Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted  

35



 
9.1 None 
 
10 Background Papers 
 

10.1 None. 
 

36



 

1 

 

Dated        2024 

 

 

SHAREHOLDER AGREEMENT 

 

between 

 

West Norfolk Property Limited 

 

and 

 

The Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

37

Agenda Item 11



 

2 

 

Contents  

1. INTERPRETATION .............................................................................. 4 

2. THE BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY .................................................. 9 

3. THE BUSINESS PLAN ........................................................................ 9 

4. DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT ..................................................... 9 

5. LAND AND FINANCE FOR THE COMPANY ..................................... 10 

6. SUPPORT SERVICES ....................................................................... 10 

6a DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE ................................... 11 

7. ANTI-CORRUPTION.......................................................................... 11 

8. MODERN SLAVERY.......................................................................... 11 

9. ACCOUNTING ................................................................................... 12 

10. DIVIDENDS ....................................................................................... 13 

11. COMMENCEMENT, DURATION AND TERMINATION ..................... 14 

12. STATUS OF THE AGREEMENT ....................................................... 14 

13. CONFIDENTIALITY ........................................................................... 14 

14. INFORMATION, SCRUTINY AND ACCOUNTABILITY ...................... 16 

15. INTERNAL COUNCIL DECISION MAKING BY THE SHAREHOLDER 

COMMITTEE AND SHAREHOLDER REPRESENTATIVE ................ 17 

16. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST .............................................................. 19 

17. DATA PROTECTION ......................................................................... 19 

18. LOCAL AUTHORITIES (COMPANIES) ORDER 1995 ....................... 19 

19. WHOLE AGREEMENT ...................................................................... 19 

20. ASSIGNMENTS ................................................................................. 20 

21. VARIATION AND WAIVER ................................................................ 20 

22. COSTS .............................................................................................. 20 

23. NO PARTNERSHIP ........................................................................... 20 

24. GOOD FAITH..................................................................................... 21 

25. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS ..................................................................... 21 

26. NOTICE ............................................................................................. 21 

27. INTEREST ON LATE PAYMENT ....................................................... 22 

28. SEVERANCE ..................................................................................... 22 

29. FURTHER ASSURANCE ................................................................... 22 

30. COUNTERPARTS ............................................................................. 22 

38



 

3 

 

31. DISPUTE RESOLUTION ................................................................... 23 

32. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION .......................................... 23 

Schedule 1 SHAREHOLDER RESERVED MATTERS ............................ 24 

Schedule 2. COMPANY LETTER OF APPOINTMENT FOR COUNCIL 

OFFICERS / COUNCILLORS AS DIRECTORS 

Schedule 3. COUNCIL LETTER OF APPOINTMENT FOR COUNCIL 

OFFICERS AS DIRECTORS 

Schedule 4. COMPANY LETTER OF APPOINTMENT FOR COUNCILLORS 

AS DIRECTORS 

Schedule 5. COMPANY LETTER OF APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS 

(OTHER THAN A COUNCIL OFFICER OR COUNCILLOR)  

 

39



 

4 

 

THIS AGREEMENT is dated       2023 

 

PARTIES 

(1) West Norfolk Property Limited (Company Registration Number: 11305606) whose 

Registered Office is at Kings Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 1EX (the 

“Company”); 

(2) Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk of Kings Court, Chapel Street, 

King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 1EX (the “Council”); 

BACKGROUND 

(A) The Company is a private company limited by shares incorporated in England and 

Wales under the Companies Act 2006 with Company Registration Number 11305606 

and at the date of this Agreement is wholly owned by the Council. 

(B) The Council has established the Company under section 1 and section 4, Localism Act 

2011 to act as a commercial purpose and trading entity. 

(C) The Company is a controlled company within the meaning of the Local Government 

and Housing Act 1989 and a regulated company within the meaning of the Local 

Authorities (Companies) Order 1995. 

(D) The Parties have agreed to execute this Agreement to regulate their respective 

responsibilities, the governance arrangements and the operation and management of 

the Company and the relationship between the Company and the Council. 

(E) The Council’s Shareholder Function is exercised by the Cabinet on behalf of the 

Council as an Executive function. The Cabinet has delegated the Shareholder 

Function, including the determination of Shareholder Reserved Matters, to the 

Shareholder Committee.  

 

1. INTERPRETATION 

1.1 The definitions and rules of interpretation in this clause apply in this Agreement. 

“Act” means the Companies Act 2006; 

“Adequate Procedures” means adequate procedures, as referred to in section 

7(2) of the Bribery Act 2010 and any guidance issued 

by the Secretary of State under section 9 of the Bribery 

Act 2010; 

40



 

5 

 

“Agreement” means this shareholder agreement; 

“Articles” means the articles of association of the Company as 

amended or superseded from time to time and “Article” 

shall be construed accordingly; 

“Board” means the board of the Company comprising the 

directors and (where appropriate) includes a committee 

of the board and the directors acting by written 

resolution; 

“Board Meeting” means a meeting of the board or (where appropriate) a 

committee of the board. 

“Business” has the meaning given in clause 2.1 and as may be 

further defined in any adopted Business Plan; 

“Business Case” means any business case for a particular activity by the 

Company that has been developed by the Company and 

adopted by the Board (where in accordance with the 

business plan or any other authority given to the Board 

by the Council) or by the Council; 

“Business Day” means any day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or 

public holiday in the United Kingdom) on which clearing 

banks in the City of London are generally open for 

business; 

“Business Plan” means the document that shall be agreed and adopted 

by the Company in accordance with clause 3; 

“Cabinet” means the cabinet comprising the leader of the Council 

and portfolio holders and forming the executive; 

“Chair” means (subject to the context) either the person 

appointed as chair of the Company under Article 36 or 

the person appointed as Chair under Article 22; 

“Commencement Date” means [INSERT DATE] 

“Confidential Information” has the meaning given in clause 13; 

“Councillor”  means an elected councillor of the Council; 

“Council Officer” means an employee or other officer of the Council; 

“Director” means a director of the Company for the time being 

and includes alternate directors any person occupying 

41



 

6 

 

the position of director by whatever name called; 

“Data Protection 

Legislation” 

means all law relating to privacy and the processing of 

personal data, or any replacement EU or UK data 

protection or related privacy law in force in England 

and Wales, including all applicable guidance and codes 

of practice issued by the Information Commissioner’s 

Office; 

“District” means the administrative area of the Council. 

“electronic form” has the meaning given in section 1168 of the Act; 

“Encumbrance” means any mortgage, charge (fixed or floating), pledge, 

lien, hypothecation, guarantee, trust, right of set-off or 

other third party right or interest (legal or equitable) 

including any assignment by way of security, 

reservation of title or other security interest of any kind, 

howsoever created or arising, or any other agreement 

or arrangement (including a sale and repurchase 

agreement) having similar effect; 

“Executive” means the Cabinet of the Council and (where 

appropriate) any executive committee/sub-committee 

of the Cabinet and includes any individual 

executive/portfolio holder or Council officer acting 

under delegated authority; 

“Financial Year” in relation to the Company, means the period of 12 

months commencing on 1 April and ending on 31 

March each year; 

“Group” in relation to a company, means that company, any 

subsidiary or holding company from time to time of that 

company and any subsidiary from time to time of a 

holding company of that company; and each company 

in a group is a member of the group; 

“Group Relief” The tax relief mechanism that allows companies within 

the same Group to offset their taxable profit against 

each other’s losses 

“Holding Company and 

Subsidiary and Wholly-

Owned Subsidiary” 

mean a "holding company", "subsidiary" and “wholly-

owned subsidiary” as defined in section 1159 of the Act 

and a company shall be treated, for the purposes only of 

the membership requirement contained in subsections 

1159(1)(b) and (c) of the Act, as a member of another 

42



 

7 

 

company even if its shares in that other company are 

registered in the name of (a) another person (or its 

nominee), whether by way of security or in connection 

with the taking of security, or (b) its nominee; 

“law” means any and all of the following:  

         any Act of Parliament; 

         any subordinate legislation (as defined in section 

21(1) of the Interpretation Act 1978); 

         any exercise of the royal prerogative; 

         any retained or assimilated European Union law in 

force in England and Wales;  

         the EU/UK Trade and Co-operation Agreement (so far 

as directly applicable under the European Union 

(Future Relationship) Act 2020);  

         any applicable judgement of a relevant court of law 

which is a binding precedent in England; and 

    any determination, direction, statutory guidance or 

code of practice having the force of law; 

“Party/Parties” means the Council and/or the Company as 

appropriate; 

“Registered Office” means the registered office of the Company; 

“Share(s)” means the shares in the Company; 

“Shareholder(s)” means the holder(s) of shares in the Company; 

“Shareholder Committee” means the committee of the Cabinet authorised to 

exercise the Shareholder Function for and on behalf of 

the Council in accordance with the Council’s 

constitution and notified to the Company in writing; 

“Shareholder Function” means the role of the Shareholder in relation to the 

Company (including Shareholder decision-making) as 

exercised by the Cabinet for and on behalf of the 

Council and delegated to the Shareholder Committee; 

“Shareholder 

Representative” 

means the person(s) appointed by the Shareholder 

Committee from time to time to act as such and as 

notified to the Company in writing; 

43



 

8 

 

“Shareholder Reserved 

Matters” 

means the matters listed in schedule 1; 

“Support Services” Means operational and administrative support provided 

by the Council to the Company from time to time, as 

formalised within a Support Service Agreement; 

“Service Level Agreement” the agreement(s) made from time to time between the 

Council and the Company relating to the provision of 

Support Services. 

1.2 Clause, schedule and paragraph headings do not affect the interpretation of this 

Agreement. 

1.3 A reference to a clause or a schedule is a reference to a clause of, or a schedule to, 

this Agreement. A reference to a paragraph is to a paragraph of the relevant schedule. 

1.4 A person includes a natural person, a corporate or unincorporated body (whether or not 

having a separate legal personality). 

1.5 Unless the context otherwise requires, references to the singular include the plural and 

vice versa, and to the whole include part and vice versa. 

1.6 Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to one gender includes a reference 

to the other genders. 

1.7 All warranties, representations, agreements and obligations expressed to be given or 

entered into by more than one person are given or entered into jointly and severally by 

the persons concerned. 

1.8 A reference to a particular statute, statutory provision or subordinate legislation is a 

reference to it as it is in force from time to time taking account of any amendment or re-

enactment and includes any statute, statutory provision or subordinate legislation which 

it amends or re-enacts and subordinate legislation for the time being in force made 

under it provided that, as between the Parties, no such amendment or re-enactment 

shall apply for the purposes of this Agreement to the extent that it would impose any 

new or extended obligation, liability or restriction on, or otherwise adversely affect the 

rights of, any Party. 

1.9 A reference to “writing” or “written” includes email but no other electronic form. 

1.10 Documents in “agreed form” are documents in the form agreed by the Parties to this 

Agreement and initialled by them or on their behalf for identification. 

1.11 A reference in this Agreement to a “document” is a reference to the document whether 

in paper or electronic form. 

1.12 Where the words “include(s)”, “including” or “in particular” are used in this Agreement, 

they are deemed to have the words "without limitation" following them. 

44



 

9 

 

1.13 Any obligation in this Agreement on a person not to do something includes an 

obligation not to agree or allow that thing to be done. 

1.14 Where the context permits, “other” and “otherwise” are illustrative and shall not limit the 

sense of the words preceding them. 

1.15 References to times of day are, unless the context requires otherwise, to London time 

and references to a day are to a period of 24 hours running from midnight on the 

previous day. 

2. THE BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY 

2.1 The Business of the Company is the letting and operating of residential properties 

owned or leased by the Company for commercial purposes within the District. 

2.2 The Business may be modified to include such further activities as the Council may 

designate. 

2.3 The Business shall be carried out by the Company in accordance with the Business 

Plan and any Business Case under that Business Plan or otherwise approved by the 

Council. 

2.4 The Company shall at all times comply with: 

2.4.1 the Business Plan;  

2.4.2 the provisions of this Agreement and the Articles; and 

2.4.3 all applicable law. 

3. THE BUSINESS PLAN 

3.1 The Company must adopt a Business Plan for each Financial Year except for any 

Financial Year where the Shareholder(s) may by ordinary resolution disapply this 

requirement. 

3.2 The Board is responsible for preparing, reviewing and updating any Business Plan. 

3.3 In accordance with the Shareholder Reserved Matters, the Shareholder(s) must by 

ordinary resolution approve the final draft of the Business Plan before the Company’s 

adoption of the Business Plan and any revision or update thereof.  

3.4 The Company shall consult the Shareholder Committee no less than ten Business 

Days before presenting a Business Plan or a revision or update thereof for the approval 

of the Shareholder(s).  

4. DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT 

4.1 All Directors are to be appointed or reappointed by ordinary resolution of the 

Shareholder(s) in accordance with the Articles.   

4.2 Subject to sections 168 and 169 of the Act, the Shareholder(s) may remove any or all 

of the Directors at any time by ordinary resolution in accordance with the Articles.  

45



 

10 

 

4.3 The Company shall have a Chair who shall be appointed and may be removed from 

the office of Chair (but not as a Director) by the Board in accordance with the Articles.  

4.4 On the appointment of a Council Officer or a Councillor as a Director of the Company, 

the Company shall issue to that person a “Letter of Appointment” in the form or 

substantially in the form contained in schedule 2.  

4.5 On the appointment of a Council Officer as a Director of the Company, the Council 

shall issue to that person a Letter of Appointment in the form or substantially in the 

form contained in schedule 3. 

4.6 On the appointment of a Councillor as a Director of the Company, the Council shall 

issue to that person a Letter of Appointment in the form or substantially in the form 

contained in schedule 4. 

4.7 On the appointment of any other person as a Director of the Company, the Company 

shall issue to that person a Letter of Appointment in the form or substantially in the 

form contained in schedule 5 

4.8 The Board has responsibility for the supervision and management of the Company and 

its Business in accordance with the Articles and this Agreement. and shall ensure that 

the Company does not transact any of the Business described in the Shareholder 

Reserved Matters as set out in schedule 1 without first referring the matter to the 

Shareholder for determination.    

4.9 A Director who is a Council Officer or Councillor shall not be entitled to any 

remuneration from the Company for their services to the Company and expenses 

incurred in their capacity as a Director shall be reimbursed by the Council in 

accordance with the relevant policy of the Council and recharged to the Company by 

the Council.   

4.10 Any Company Secretary appointed in accordance with the Articles who is a Council 

Officer or Councillor shall not be entitled to any remuneration from the Company in 

their capacity as Company Secretary and expenses incurred in their capacity as a 

Company Secretary shall be reimbursed by the Council in accordance with the relevant 

policy of the Council and recharged to the Company by the Council. 

4.11 The payment or reimbursement of Directors’ expenses is subject to the production of 

satisfactory receipts.  

5. LAND AND FINANCE FOR THE COMPANY  

5.1 There is no obligation on the Council to provide any land, capital or other finance to the 

Company unless the Parties agree otherwise in writing. 

6. SUPPORT SERVICES 

6.1 The Council may provide Support Services to the Company. Such Support Services 

shall be subject to full cost recovery and formalised via a Service Level Agreement or 

other written agreement between the Parties.  

46



 

11 

 

6A DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE  

6A.1 The Company shall, at its own expense, procure and maintain in full force and effect a 

policy of directors' and officers' liability insurance. The Insurance shall cover all 

Directors and Council Officers who undertake work on behalf of the Company against 

any liability incurred by them in their capacity as directors or officers of the Company, 

including but not limited to any liabilities arising out of any actual or alleged act, error, 

omission, misstatement, misleading statement, neglect, or breach of duty. 

6A.2 The Company may request that the Council arrange the insurance policy required by 

clause 6A.1 and in doing so the Company shall be deemed to have complied with 

clause 6A.1. In the event of a failure of the Council to arrange a policy of insurance that 

is compliant with clause 6A.1, following such a request from the Company, the Council 

shall indemnify the Company, its Directors and/or any Council Officer from any loss 

suffered as a result.  

6A.3 The cost of any insurance policy obtained by the Council under clause 6A.2 shall be 

recovered from the Company.  

7. ANTI-CORRUPTION 

7.1 The Company undertakes to the Council that: 

7.1.1 it will not in the course of the operation of the Business, engage in any activity, 

practice or conduct which would constitute an offence under sections 1, 2 or 6 

of the Bribery Act 2010; 

7.1.2 it will maintain in place anti-corruption procedures in substantially the same 

form as the Council’s anti-corruption procedures which the Parties agree 

constitute Adequate Procedures;  

7.1.3 it will maintain in place anti-money laundering procedures; and 

7.1.4 from time to time, at the request of the Council it will confirm in writing that it 

has complied with its undertakings under clause 7.1.1 to clause 7.1.3 and will 

provide any information reasonably requested by the Council in support of 

such compliance. 

8. MODERN SLAVERY 

8.1 The Company undertakes to the Council: 

8.1.1 it will not in the course of the operation of the Business engage in any activity, 

practice or conduct which would constitute an offence under sections 1,2,3 or 

4 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015; 

8.1.2 it will maintain in place anti-modern slavery procedures in substantially the 

same form as the Council’s anti-modern slavery procedures which the parties 

agree constitute adequate procedures. 

47



 

12 

 

9. ACCOUNTING 

9.1 The Company shall at all times maintain accurate and complete accounting and other 

financial records including all corporation tax computations and related documents and 

correspondence with HM Revenue & Customs in accordance with the requirements of 

all applicable laws and generally accepted accounting principles applicable in the 

United Kingdom. 

9.2 The Company shall at all times maintain accurate and complete accounting and other 

financial records to the standard required by the Council including the accounting 

standards and financial reporting timescales required by the Council. 

9.3 The Council, the Shareholder Representative and the Shareholder Committee shall be 

allowed access at all reasonable times to examine the books and records of the 

Company and to discuss the Company’s affairs with the Directors and any Council 

Officer that undertakes work on behalf of the Company. 

9.4 The Company shall supply the Shareholder Committee and/or the Shareholder 

Representative of the Council with the financial and other information necessary to 

keep the Council informed about how effectively the Business is performing and in 

particular shall supply: 

9.4.1 a copy of any proposed Business Plan for approval in accordance with clause 

3 and the Shareholder Reserved Matters; 

9.4.2 a copy of the audited accounts of the Company once the same have been 

submitted to Companies House for the relevant year, which shall have been 

prepared in accordance with the laws applicable in and the accounting 

standards, principles and practices generally accepted in the United Kingdom;  

9.4.3 quarterly management accounts of the Company as soon as reasonably 

practicable following the end of the months to which they relate and in any 

event by the final day of the month following the month to which the accounts 

relate and the accounts shall include a profit and loss account, a balance 

sheet and a cashflow statement and such other information as the Council 

may reasonably require; 

9.4.4 a copy of any report reviewing or monitoring the implementation and operation 

by the Company of Adequate Procedures within 10 Business Days of it being 

reported to the Board; and 

9.4.5 copies of any proposed or adopted Business Case. 

9.5 The Council may require the Company, and the Company shall as soon as possible 

comply with such a request, to provide any documents, information and 

correspondence necessary to enable the Council to comply with filing, elections, 

returns or any other requirements of HM Revenue & Customs or of any other revenue 

or tax authority. 

48



 

13 

 

9A  INTERNAL AUDIT 

9A.1 The Company agrees to submit to an annual internal audit programme conducted by 

the Council in relation to the Business and the Company’s governance to provide 

assurance on compliance with regulatory requirements and best practice.  

9A.2 The internal audit programme shall be determined by the Council. The Council will 

provide notice to the Company of the projected internal audit programme for the 

following Financial Year by 31 January each year. The Board may provide their 

feedback on the projected internal audit programme to the Council by 28 February 

each year. The Council will take account of any feedback received and will finalise the 

annual internal audit programme for the following Financial Year by 15 March each 

year.  The Council may make in-year changes to the annual internal audit programme 

by giving not less than 28 days’ notice to the Board with supporting reasons for the 

change.  

9A.3 The Company shall provide access at all reasonable times to the Council to examine 

the books and records of the Company and to discuss the Company’s affairs with the 

Directors and any Council Officer that undertakes work on behalf of the Company for 

the purpose of undertaking an internal audit.  

9A.4 The Council shall notify the Company in writing at least 21 days in advance of any 

internal audit commencing and shall provide the Board with a draft of the internal audit 

report with at least 21 days to review and provide comments back to the Council in 

advance of a final report being issued. 

9A.5 The final internal audit report issued shall be owned by the Council and the Company 

jointly. The Company shall respond to any recommendations within the audit report 

within 21 days, outlining the corrective actions to be taken and the timeline for 

implementation. 

9A.6 The Council shall consult the Company on the exempt status under Schedule 12A of 

the Local Government Act 1972 of any internal audit findings before issuing any 

information publicly for the Council’s Audit Committee.  

9A.7 The cost of conducting the internal audit shall be borne by the Company. 

9A.8 Progress on the implementation of internal audit recommendations shall be reported to 

the Shareholder Committee by the Board. 

10. DIVIDENDS  

10.1 The decision to recommend or not recommend any dividend payment shall be a 

reserved matter to the Shareholder Committee.  

49



 

14 

 

11. COMMENCEMENT, DURATION AND TERMINATION 

11.1 This Agreement shall commence on the Commencement Date and shall remain in 

force until terminated any time by the Shareholder serving three months’ notice to 

terminate on the Company. 

11.2 The following provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force after termination: 

11.2.1 clause 0 (Interpretation); 

11.2.2 this clause 11; 

11.2.3 clause 13 (Confidentiality); 

11.2.4 clause 17 (Data Protection); 

11.2.5 clause 19 (Whole Agreement); 

11.2.6 clause 21 (Variation and Waiver); 

11.2.7 clause 22 (Costs); 

11.2.8 clause 26 (Notice); 

11.2.9 clause 28 (Severance);  

11.2.10 clause 31 (Dispute Resolution); 

11.2.11 clause 32 (Governing Law and Jurisdiction);  

11.3 The termination of this Agreement shall not affect any rights or liabilities that the Parties 

have accrued under it. 

12. STATUS OF THE AGREEMENT 

12.1 If there is at any time any conflict, ambiguity or discrepancy between the provisions of 

this Agreement and the Articles, then the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail 

over the Articles unless the Shareholder directs otherwise.  The Parties shall procure 

that the Articles are amended to accord with the provisions of this Agreement in the 

event of any conflict. 

13. CONFIDENTIALITY 

13.1 In this clause “Confidential Information” means any information which: 

13.1.1 any Party may have or acquire (whether before or after the date of this 

Agreement) in relation to the customers, suppliers, business, assets or affairs 

of the Company (including, without limitation, any information provided 

pursuant to clause 9 (Accounting)); 

50



 

15 

 

13.1.2 any Party or any member of its Group may have or acquire (whether before or 

after the date of this Agreement) in relation to the customers, suppliers, 

business, assets or affairs of another Party or any member of the other Party's 

Group, as a consequence of the negotiations relating to this Agreement or any 

other agreement or document referred to in this Agreement or the 

performance of the Agreement or any other agreement or document referred 

to in this Agreement; or 

13.1.3 relates to the contents of any adopted Business Plan or Business Case. 

but excludes the information in clause13.2 below. 

13.2 Information is not Confidential Information if: 

13.2.1 it is or becomes public knowledge other than as a direct or indirect result of 

the information being disclosed in breach of this Agreement;  

13.2.2 a Party can establish to the reasonable satisfaction of the other Parties that it 

found out the information from a source not connected with the other Parties 

or its Group and that the source is not under any obligation of confidence in 

respect of the information;  

13.2.3 either Party can establish to the reasonable satisfaction of the other Parties 

that the information was known to the first Party before the date of this 

Agreement and that it was not under any obligation of confidence in respect of 

the information; or 

13.2.4 the Parties agree in writing that it is not confidential. 

13.3 Each Party shall at all times use all reasonable endeavours to keep confidential (and to 

ensure that its employees, agents, Subsidiaries and the employees and agents of such 

Subsidiaries shall keep confidential), any Confidential Information and shall not use or 

disclose any such Confidential Information except: 

13.3.1 to a Party's professional advisers where such disclosure is for a purpose 

related to the operation of this Agreement;  

13.3.2 with the written consent of the Party to whom the Confidential Information 

belongs or relates to or any member of its Group that the information relates 

to;  

13.3.3 as may be required by law (to include without limitation the Local Authorities 

(Companies) Order 1995 and the Freedom of Information Act 2000), or 

governmental or other regulatory body, when the Party concerned shall, if 

practicable, supply a copy of the required disclosure to the other before it is 

disclosed and incorporate any amendments or additions reasonably required 

by the other Parties and which would not thereby prevent the disclosing Party 

from complying with its legal obligations;  

51



 

16 

 

13.3.4 to any tax authority to the extent reasonably required for the purposes of the 

tax affairs of the Party concerned or any member of its Group;  

13.3.5 if the information comes within the public domain (otherwise than as a result of 

the breach of this clause 13.3) 

13.4 Each Party shall inform (and shall use all reasonable endeavours to procure that any 

Subsidiary informs) any Council Officer, employee, agent or professional adviser 

advising it in relation to matters referred to in this Agreement, or to whom it provides 

Confidential Information, that such information is confidential, and shall require them: 

13.4.1 to keep it confidential; and 

13.4.2 not to disclose it to any third party (other than those persons to whom it has 

already been disclosed in accordance with the terms of this Agreement). 

13.5 Upon termination of this Agreement, any Party may demand from any other Party the 

return of any documents containing Confidential Information in relation to the first Party 

by notice in writing whereupon the second Party shall (and shall use all reasonable 

endeavours to ensure that its Subsidiaries, and its Council Officers and employees and 

those of its Subsidiaries shall): 

13.5.1 return such documents; and 

13.5.2 destroy any copies of such documents and any other document or other 

record reproducing, containing or made from or with reference to the 

Confidential Information, 

save, in each case, for any submission to or filings with governmental, tax or regulatory 

authorities. Such return or destruction shall take place as soon as practicable after the 

receipt of any such notice. 

13.6 The obligations of the Parties in this clause 13 shall continue without limit in time and 

notwithstanding termination of this Agreement for any cause. 

14. INFORMATION, SCRUTINY AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

14.1 Subject to clause 14.4, the Parties acknowledge that the Council and the Company are 

each subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental 

Information Regulations 2004 (together the “Information Legislation”).  The Parties 

shall use reasonable endeavours to assist, within the timescale specified by a Party in 

receipt of a request for information under the Information Legislation (“the receiving 

Party”), the receiving Party in responding to any requests for information under that 

legislation to include the provision of any and all documents that the receiving Party 

considers reasonably necessary to enable it to respond to the information request.   

14.2 The Company shall, and shall procure that its employees and agents shall, comply at 

all times with the Council’s policies and procedures on Freedom of Information.  

52



 

17 

 

14.3 Notwithstanding clauses 14.1 and .14.2, the Company shall comply at all times with the 

Information Legislation as that legislation applies directly to the Company. 

14.4 Where the Company receives any request for information under the Information 

Legislation, it shall as soon as reasonably practicable pass the request to the Council 

and have regard to the views of the Council before responding to any such request. 

14.5 The Company shall use reasonable endeavours to assist the Council in complying with 

any and all transparency obligations including without limitation compliance with the 

Local Government Transparency Code 2015 and any successor codes, policies or 

guidance. 

14.6 The Company shall use reasonable endeavours to assist the Council in responding to 

any requests for information about the Company and/or the Business submitted by 

Councillors. 

14.7 The Company shall, if the Council on reasonable notice so requests, make available 

Council Officers and/or employees of the Company to attend before and answer 

questions at any meeting of:  

14.7.1 the Shareholder Committee; 

14.7.2 the Cabinet; 

14.7.3 a Policy Review and Development Panel of the Council; and/or 

14.7.4 the Audit Committee of the Council. 

14.8 The Company shall supply any information to the Shareholder Representative, 

Shareholder Committee, Cabinet, Policy Review & Development Panels or Audit 

Committee of the Council as may be reasonably requested by any of them. 

14.9 The Company shall allow the Shareholder Representative(s) to attend as observers at 

Board Meetings or at meetings of any committee of the Board.  

14.10 The Company shall use reasonable endeavours to assist the Council in responding to 

any inquiry or investigation of or by the Local Government and Social Care 

Ombudsman, the Information Commissioner or other regulators (or any successor). 

15. INTERNAL COUNCIL DECISION MAKING BY THE SHAREHOLDER COMMITTEE 

AND SHAREHOLDER REPRESENTATIVE 

15.1 The Parties each acknowledge that the Council in its capacity as the Shareholder will 

exercise the Shareholder Function and make Shareholder decisions through the 

Cabinet and that the Cabinet has delegated the exercise of the Shareholder Function 

and the making of Shareholder decisions, including without limitation Shareholder 

Reserved Matters, to the Shareholder Committee.  

53



 

18 

 

15.2 The Shareholder Committee shall be established as a committee of the Cabinet and 

arrangements for the Shareholder Committee shall be provided for in the Council’s 

constitution.  

15.3 The Shareholder Committee may report on its activities and the performance of the 

Company to the Cabinet, and the Cabinet and/or the Shareholder Committee may 

report on their activities and the performance of the Company to the Council (including 

meetings of the Full Council, the Policy Review and Development Panels and Audit 

Committee) for the purposes of the scrutiny of the exercise of the Shareholder 

Function.   

15.4 The Company shall ensure that: 

31.4.1 copies of Board minutes are made available to the Shareholder Committee 

following each Board meeting; and 

31.4.2 not less than twice in every Financial Year, the Board produces a report on the 

performance and activities of the Company and provides the same to the 

Shareholder Committee 

15.5 Notwithstanding clause 14.7 above upon reasonable written notice the Company shall 

make available the Chair (or a substitute Director of the Chair’s choosing) to attend 

meetings of the Council; 

15.6 The Company shall consult the Shareholder Committee prior to adopting any policy or 

procedure for the operation and management of the Company. 

15.7 The Shareholder Committee may require from time to time that the Company adopts 

certain policies or procedures for the Company’s operation.  

15.8 The Shareholder Committee may designate a Council Officer(s) as the Shareholder 

Representative to be a single point of contact for the Company and the Shareholder 

Committee and to undertake operational actions on behalf of the Shareholder 

Committee. The Shareholder Representative may delegate to another Council Officer 

the duties of liaising between the Company and the Shareholder Committee on a day-

to-day basis and for such other purposes as may be determined by the Shareholder 

Representative.  

15.9 The Shareholder Representative does not have authority to make decisions on 

Shareholder Reserved Matters save in respect of Shareholder Reserved Matter 24 

which may be exercised by the Shareholder Representative.   

15.10 Where the Board considers that compliance with any requirement of the Shareholder 

and / or the Council under this Agreement would place the Directors in breach or at risk 

of breach of the Act, any applicable legislation and/or their duties to the Company then 

the Board shall seek Shareholder approval of the actions required and the Board shall 

be permitted a reasonable period of time to seek independent legal advice if it 

reasonably believes that  the Board will or may be in breach of the Act, any applicable 

legislation and/or their duties to the Company  

54



 

19 

 

16. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

16.1 The Parties acknowledge and accept that where a Council Officer is appointed to the 

Board as a Director, when acting as a Director they must act in the best interests of the 

Company at all times in accordance with the statutory, fiduciary and common law 

duties of company directors and that a Director is required to perform their duties to the 

Company faithfully, diligently and to a standard commensurate with the role and their 

knowledge, skills and experience, and with particular regard to the duty to promote the 

success of the Company and the duties of directors under Part 10 of the Act. 

16.2 The Parties acknowledge and accept that where a Council Officer is appointed as a 

Director a conflict of interests may arise between their duty to act in the best interests 

of the Company as a Director and their duty to act in the best interests of the Council 

as a Council Officer, and the Parties further acknowledge and accept that where such a 

conflict of interests arises the Director shall act in the best interests of the Company.  

16.3 Where a Council Officer is appointed as a Director of the Company, the Council shall 

acknowledge and accept the conflict of interests in the Letter of Appointment issued 

pursuant to clause 4.5. 

16.4 The Parties acknowledge and accept that where a Councillor is appointed as a Director 

they cannot disregard or delegate their public law duties as a Councillor and that where 

such a conflict of interest arises it shall be managed by the Board in accordance with 

the Articles and by the Councillor in accordance with the Council’s councillor code of 

conduct. 

16.5 Where a Councillor is appointed as a Director, the Council shall acknowledge and 

accept the conflict of interests in the Letter of Appointment issued pursuant to clause 

4.6. 

17. DATA PROTECTION 

17.1 The Company shall maintain in place data protection procedures and otherwise comply 

with the requirements of the Data Protection Legislation.  

18. LOCAL AUTHORITIES (COMPANIES) ORDER 1995 

18.1 The Company shall at all times comply with the Local Authorities (Companies) Order 

1995, any successor legislation or statutory instrument and any other laws in force from 

time to time in relation to the operation, management and activities of a local authority 

owned company. 

19. WHOLE AGREEMENT 

19.1 This Agreement, read together with the Company’s Articles and any Service Level 

Agreement from time to time, constitute the whole agreement between the Parties and 

supersede all previous arrangements, understandings and agreements between them, 

whether oral or written, relating to their subject matter.  

55



 

20 

 

19.2 Each Party acknowledges that in entering into this Agreement, it does not rely on, and 

shall have no remedy in respect of, any representation or warranty (whether made 

innocently or negligently) that is not set out in this Agreement, the Articles or the 

Service Level Agreement. 

19.3 Nothing in this clause 19 shall limit or exclude any liability for fraud. 

20. ASSIGNMENTS 

20.1 The Company may not assign, or grant any Encumbrance over or sub-contract, or deal 

in any way with, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement or any document 

referred to in it without the prior written consent of the Council in accordance with the 

Shareholder Reserved Matters. 

20.2 Each person that has rights under this Agreement is acting on its own behalf. 

21. VARIATION AND WAIVER 

21.1 A variation of this Agreement shall be in writing and signed by or on behalf of the 

Parties and shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholder(s). 

21.2 A waiver of any right under this Agreement is only effective if it is in writing and it 

applies only to the person to which the waiver is addressed and the circumstances for 

which it is given. 

21.3 A person that waives a right in relation to one person or takes or fails to take any action 

against that person, does not affect its rights against any other person. 

21.4 No failure to exercise or delay in exercising any right or remedy provided under this 

Agreement or by law constitutes a waiver of such right or remedy or shall prevent any 

future exercise in whole or in part thereof.  

21.5 No single or partial exercise of any right or remedy under this Agreement shall preclude 

or restrict the further exercise of any such right or remedy. 

21.6 Unless specifically provided otherwise, rights and remedies arising under this 

Agreement are cumulative and do not exclude rights and remedies provided by law. 

22. COSTS 

22.1 Unless otherwise provided or agreed in writing, costs in connection with the 

negotiation, preparation, execution and performance of this Agreement or any variation 

of it shall be borne by the Party that incurred the costs. 

23. NO PARTNERSHIP 

23.1 The Parties to this Agreement are not in partnership with each other and there is no 

relationship of principal and agent between them. 

56



 

21 

 

24. GOOD FAITH 

24.1 Each Party shall at all times act in good faith towards the other and shall use all 

reasonable endeavours to ensure that this Agreement is observed. 

24.2 Each Party shall do all things necessary and desirable to give effect to the spirit and 

intention of this Agreement. 

25. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 

25.1 A person who is not a Party to this Agreement shall not have any rights under or in 

connection with it by virtue of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 except 

where such rights are expressly granted in this Agreement. 

25.2 The right of the Parties to terminate, rescind or agree any amendment, variation, 

waiver or settlement under this Agreement is not subject to the consent of any person 

that is not a Party to the Agreement. 

26. NOTICE 

26.1 A notice given under this Agreement:  

24.1.1 shall be sent for the attention of the person and to the address given in this 

clause 26 (or such other address, or person as the relevant Party may notify to 

the other Party); and 

24.1.2 shall be: 

(a) delivered personally; or 

(b) delivered by commercial courier; or 

(c) sent by email to such email addresses as may be notified by each Party 

to the other; or   

(d) sent by pre-paid first-class post or recorded delivery. 

26.2 The addresses for service of notice are: 

24.2.1 for the Company: the Company’s Registered Office; 

24.2.2 for the Shareholder: stated at the beginning of this Agreement. 

26.3 If a notice has been properly sent or delivered in accordance with this clause 26, it will 

be deemed to have been received as follows: 

24.3.1 if delivered personally, at the time of delivery; or 

24.3.2 if delivered by commercial courier, at the time of signature of the courier's 

delivery receipt; or 

57



 

22 

 

24.3.3 if sent by email, on the day of transmission if the transmission is before 

1600hours on a Business Day otherwise at 1000hours on the next Business 

Day thereafter provided that the sender has a transmission report showing a 

successful transmission to the correct email address (delivery receipt) and 

evidence of the email having been opened (read receipt); or 

24.3.4 if sent by pre-paid first-class post or recorded delivery, 5 Business Days after 

posting. 

26.4 To prove delivery, it is sufficient in the case of post that the envelope containing the 

notice was properly addressed and posted, and in the case of email, that the sender 

has a report showing a successful transmission to the correct email address (delivery 

receipt) and evidence of the email having been opened (read receipt). 

27. INTEREST ON LATE PAYMENT 

27.1 Where monies are required to be paid under this Agreement but are not paid before or 

on the date the Parties agreed, the person due to pay the monies shall also pay an 

amount equal to interest on those monies at the rate set out in this clause for the period 

beginning with the date on which the payment was due and ending with the date the 

monies are paid (and the period shall continue after as well as before judgment). 

27.2 The rate of interest shall be 2% per annum above the base lending rate from time to 

time of the Bank of England. Interest shall accrue on a daily basis and be compounded 

quarterly. 

28. SEVERANCE 

28.1 If any provision of this Agreement (or part of a provision) is found by any court or 

administrative body of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, unenforceable or illegal, the 

other provisions shall remain in force. 

28.2 If any invalid, unenforceable or illegal provision would be valid, enforceable or legal if 

some part of it were deleted or modified, the provision shall apply with whatever 

modification is necessary to give effect to the commercial intention of the Parties. 

29. FURTHER ASSURANCE 

29.1 Each Party shall promptly execute and deliver all such documents, and do all such 

things, as the other Party may from time to time reasonably require for the purpose of 

giving full effect to the provisions of this Agreement. 

30. COUNTERPARTS 

30.1 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which is an 

original and which together have the same effect as if each Party had signed the same 

document. 

58



 

23 

 

31. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

31.1 If any dispute arises between the Company and the Shareholder out of or in connection 

with this Agreement, its subject matter or formation (including non-contractual disputes 

or claims) (a “Dispute”), in the first instance this shall be referred in writing for 

resolution to the Chair of the Company and the “Chief Executive” of the Shareholder.  

31.2 Where the Chair of the Company and the Chief Executive of the Shareholder are 

unable to resolve the Dispute within one month of it first being referred in accordance 

with clause 31.1, then at the request of either Party the Dispute shall be referred to an 

independent and professional mediator who shall be nominated without delay by 

agreement between the Chair and the Chief Executive (or in the absence of such 

agreement), by the President of the Law Society (or their authorised representative). 

Such mediation shall then be carried out in confidence and on a without prejudice basis 

in relation to any subsequent proceedings and the Parties shall bear their own 

expenses and one half of the mediator’s resulting charges. 

31.3 If, regardless of whether or not the Parties have implemented the procedures specified 

in clause 31.1 or clause 31.2, the Parties fail to resolve the Dispute within three months 

of the dispute first arising, then either Party may serve notice on the other to require the 

Dispute to be subject to the institution of legal proceedings in court in accordance with 

clause 32 (Governing Law and Jurisdiction).  

31.4 If any Dispute is resolved pursuant to the provisions of this clause 31 then the Parties 

shall record the resolution of the Dispute in writing and shall each promptly sign the 

same and the signed document shall form a legally binding agreement between the 

Parties to the Dispute by way of a supplement to this Agreement. 

32. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

32.1 This Agreement and any Disputes are governed by and construed in accordance with 

the law of England. 

32.2 Subject to the provisions of Clauses 31.1 – 31.3 of this Agreement, the Parties 

irrevocably agree that the courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any 

Dispute. 

 

This Agreement has been executed and delivered as a deed on the date stated at the 

beginning of it. 

 

59



 

24 

 

SCHEDULE 1 SHAREHOLDER RESERVED MATTERS 

Matters Reserved Matters for 

Shareholder Approval 

Matters Delegated for Board 

Approval 

Matters Delegated by the Board 

for Approval by individual 

Directors  

1. Business Plan  Approving the first and all future 

Business Plans before the 

Company’s adoption pursuant to 

Clause 8. 

Approving any material change 

to any previously approved 

Business Plan, which the Board 

is unable to approve. 

Varying the timing, scale or programme 

of works or projects that are included in 

the Business Plan where the change 

amounts to less than £250,000 in any 

one financial year. 

Non-material departures from the 

Business Plan 

None  

2. New Business Approval of any new Business 

not contemplated in the 

approved Business Plan 

None None 

3. Appointment  

and Removal of 

Directors 

Approval of the appointment 

and removal of any Directors 

(save where those 

appointments terminate as a 

Review of proposed Council (member or 

officer) appointees in advance of 

appointment.  

None. 

60



 

25 

 

Matters Reserved Matters for 

Shareholder Approval 

Matters Delegated for Board 

Approval 

Matters Delegated by the Board 

for Approval by individual 

Directors  

result of the operation of the 

Articles) and of the terms and 

conditions of employment or 

severance package of any all 

Directors.  

Recruitment of independent Directors 

Appointment and removal of all Board 

advisers (to include terms and conditions 

of relationship).   

4. Adoption and 

variation  of the 

Articles of 

Association 

Adopting the Company’s 

Articles; 

Approving any variations to the 

Company’s Articles. 

None.  None. 

5. Shareholder 

Agreement 

Adopting the Shareholder 

Agreement. 

Approving any material variation 

to the Shareholder Agreement 

 Any non-material variation to the 

Shareholder Agreement in consultation 

with the Chair of the Shareholder 

Committee 

None 

6. Executive 

Director 

Approval of the appointment or 

dismissal and the terms and 

Non-material alterations to the terms and 

conditions of service 

None. 

61



 

26 

 

Matters Reserved Matters for 

Shareholder Approval 

Matters Delegated for Board 

Approval 

Matters Delegated by the Board 

for Approval by individual 

Directors  

Appointment, 

Dismissal and 

Remuneration 

conditions of service or any 

severance package of any 

executive director of the 

Company. 

Performance related pay awards (if any) 

contemplated in the terms and conditions 

service 

7. Senior 

Employee 

Recruitment, 

Dismissal and 

Remuneration 

Approval of the appointment or 

dismissal and the terms and 

conditions of employment or 

severance package of any 

senior employee of the 

Company. 

Approval of a pay framework 

and job evaluation scheme for 

the Company. 

Recruitment or dismissal of employees 

and/or agreeing the remuneration of 

employees where the total remuneration 

for that position is greater than £75K and 

is within the approved pay framework. 

Recruitment of employees and/or 

agreeing the remuneration of 

employees where the total 

remuneration for that position is 

£75K or less and is within the 

approved pay framework. 

8. Shares The acquisition of any shares or 

any option over shares in the 

capital of any company. 

The creation, allotment, issuing 

None. None. 

62



 

27 

 

Matters Reserved Matters for 

Shareholder Approval 

Matters Delegated for Board 

Approval 

Matters Delegated by the Board 

for Approval by individual 

Directors  

or redemption of any shares or 

securities, or the granting of any 

right to require the creation, 

allotment, issuing or redemption 

of any such shares or securities. 

9. Additional 

Shareholders 

The admission of additional 

shareholders to the Company. 

Agreeing any rights or 

restrictions attaching to any 

shares allocated to such 

additional shareholders 

None None 

10. Issuing or 

Accepting of 

Borrowing / 

Loan Capital 

Entering into any borrowing, the 

issuing of any loan capital or 

entering into any commitments 

with any person regarding the 

issue of any loan capital outside 

of the approved Business Plan. 

Entering into any borrowing or issuing 

any loan capital where this is approved in 

the current Business Plan, to the extent 

and on the terms set out in the approved 

Business Plan. 

None. 

63



 

28 

 

Matters Reserved Matters for 

Shareholder Approval 

Matters Delegated for Board 

Approval 

Matters Delegated by the Board 

for Approval by individual 

Directors  

Agreeing, as part of the 

approved Business Plan, the 

extent of any permitted 

borrowing delegated for Board 

approval, and the terms on 

which that borrowing can be 

entered into.   

11. Nature of the 

Company’s 

Business 

Any material changes to the 

nature of the Company’s 

Business not contemplated by 

the approved Business Plan. 

Any changes to the nature of the 

Company’s business where it is 

contemplated in the approved Business 

Plan. 

None. 

12. Reputation of 

Council 

Approving any matter which is 

reasonably likely to have an 

adverse effect on the reputation 

of the Council 

None None 

13. Acquisitions or The acquisition of any freehold 

or leasehold land or building or 

The acquisition of any freehold or 

leasehold land or building or the entering 

None. 

64



 

29 

 

Matters Reserved Matters for 

Shareholder Approval 

Matters Delegated for Board 

Approval 

Matters Delegated by the Board 

for Approval by individual 

Directors  

Disposals the entering into or granting of 

any option in respect of any land 

or building or the acquisition or 

disposal of any asset where this 

is not contemplated in the 

approved Business Plan. 

into or granting of any option in respect of 

any land or building or the acquisition or 

disposal of any asset where it is 

contemplated in the approved Business 

Plan. 

14. Company / 

Group Structure 

Forming any subsidiary or 

acquiring an interest in any 

other company or participating 

in any partnership or corporate 

joint venture 

Amalgamating or merging with 

any other company or 

undertaking 

None. None. 

15. Stock Exchange 

Listing 

The listing or trading of any 

shares or debt securities on any 

stock exchange or market. 

None. None. 

65



 

30 

 

Matters Reserved Matters for 

Shareholder Approval 

Matters Delegated for Board 

Approval 

Matters Delegated by the Board 

for Approval by individual 

Directors  

16. Appointment of 

Agents or 

Subcontractors 

or Arms’ Length 

Transactions 

Appointment or termination of 

agents, contractors or 

subcontractors where this is 

outside of the approved 

Business Plan.  

Appointment of contractors or 

subcontractors where this is in pursuance 

of the approved Business Plan. 

 

Appointment of contractors or 

subcontractors in pursuance of the 

approved Business Plan up to a 

value of £100K. 

The day-to-day management of the 

Company’s contracts and 

agreements. 

17. Part sale of the 

business 

Selling any part of the business, 

unless specifically contemplated 

and authorised in the approved 

Business Plan. 

None. None. 

18. Business Name 

and Location 

Changing the Company name, 

trading name, or Registered 

Office, or changing the location 

of any offices outside of the 

Company’s Registered Office to 

Changing the location of any offices 

outside of the Company’s Registered 

Office to another location within the 

District. 

None. 

66



 

31 

 

Matters Reserved Matters for 

Shareholder Approval 

Matters Delegated for Board 

Approval 

Matters Delegated by the Board 

for Approval by individual 

Directors  

a location outside of the District.   

19. Intellectual 

Property 

The disposal, sale, assignment 

or granting of any rights in the 

Company’s intellectual property 

outside of the normal course of 

business. 

The granting of any rights (by licence or 

otherwise) in or over any intellectual 

property owned or used by the Company 

in the normal course of business 

Where necessary to effect delegated 

decisions up to a value of £100K 

20. Encumbrances Creating or granting any 

Encumbrance over the whole or 

any part of the Company or its 

business, undertaking or assets, 

or over any shares in the 

Company other than liens 

arising in the normal course of 

business. 

None None 

21. Redundancy Removal of Directors.  Dismissing any employee in 

circumstances in which the Company will 

incur or agrees to bear redundancy or 

Dismissing any employee in 

circumstances in which the Company 

will incur or agrees to bear 

67



 

32 

 

Matters Reserved Matters for 

Shareholder Approval 

Matters Delegated for Board 

Approval 

Matters Delegated by the Board 

for Approval by individual 

Directors  

other costs (including actuarial costs) in 

excess of £75K. 

redundancy or other costs (including 

actuarial costs) of £75K or less. 

22. Pension Establishing any new pension 

scheme, or granting any 

pension rights to any director, 

former director, or any members 

of any such person’s family. 

Changes to pension 

arrangements for staff whether 

in the Local Government 

Pension Scheme or otherwise.  

Any other decisions of the 

Company which will have an 

effect on liabilities of the 

Shareholder under the Local 

Government Pension Scheme 

or any associated guarantee. 

Establishing any new pension scheme, or 

amending any pension scheme, provided 

by the Company to employees. 

None. 

68



 

33 

 

Matters Reserved Matters for 

Shareholder Approval 

Matters Delegated for Board 

Approval 

Matters Delegated by the Board 

for Approval by individual 

Directors  

23. The Winding-Up 

or alternative 

Dissolution of 

the Company 

Passing any resolution for the 

winding-up or the otherwise 

dissolution of the Company or 

presenting any petition for its 

administration (except where 

the Company is insolvent)  

None. None. 

24. Accounting and 

Audit 

Deciding whether to change the 

Company’s accounting period. 

Appointment and removal of 

auditor. 

None 

Review of proposed replacement auditor 

prior to appointment.  

None 

25. Dividends  Deciding whether to declare or 

not declare a dividend in each 

financial year 

Payment and distribution of any 

approved dividend.  

None 

26. Group Relief on 

Corporation Tax 

The allocation and application of 

Group Relief in respect of 

None None 

69



 

34 

 

Matters Reserved Matters for 

Shareholder Approval 

Matters Delegated for Board 

Approval 

Matters Delegated by the Board 

for Approval by individual 

Directors  

corporation tax liabilities  

70



 

35 

 

SCHEDULE 2 

COMPANY LETTER OF APPOINTMENT FOR COUNCIL OFFICERS / 

COUNCILLORS AS DIRECTORS [AMEND LETTER TEMPLATE AS APPROPRIATE] 

Dear  

West Norfolk Property Limited (the "Company") 

1 This letter contains the terms which we have discussed and agreed for your 

appointment as a Director of the Company. You have been appointed by 

ordinary resolution of the Company passed by the Borough Council of King’s 

Lynn & West Norfolk as the sole shareholder of the Company in accordance 

with the Shareholder Agreement between the Borough Council of King’s Lynn 

and the Company, and the Company’s Articles of Association.  

2 By accepting this appointment as a Director, you agree that this letter is a 

contract for services and is not a contract of employment with the Company 

and you confirm that you are not subject to any restrictions which prevent you 

from holding office as a director of the Company. 

3 You are a [Council Officer / Councillor] [delete as appropriate] of the Borough 

Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk and so will not be paid a fee by the 

Company and you are not entitled to claim expenses from the Company.  

Arrangements as regards any fee for your directorship are a matter for you 

and the Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk. You will claim any 

expenses from the Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk in 

accordance with [your contract of employment / the Members’ Allowances 

Scheme of the Borough Council of Kings’ Lynn and West Norfolk] [delete as 

appropriate] Your fee (if any) and expenses may be re-charged to the Company 

for payment in accordance with the arrangements agreed between the 

Company and the Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk. 

4 You will be expected to attend the Board Meetings and General Meetings of 

the Company. You will receive details of all such meetings in advance.  You 

may be required to serve on one or more Board committees. You will be 

provided with the relevant terms of reference on your appointment to such a 

committee. You also may be asked to serve as a director on the board of any 

of the Company’s subsidiaries or joint ventures. Any such appointment will be 

covered in a separate communication. 

5 You are expected to perform your duties as a Director of the Company 

(whether statutory, fiduciary or common law) faithfully, diligently and to a 

standard commensurate with the functions of your role and your knowledge, 

skills and experience. 

71



 

36 

 

6 You shall exercise your powers in your role as a Director of the Company 

having regard to relevant obligations under prevailing law and regulations, 

including the Companies Act 2006.  The Company is wholly owned by a local 

authority and so is a controlled company within the meaning of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989.  This means that the Company is subject 

to additional obligations, reporting and enhanced transparency (in particular it 

is subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental 

Information Regulations 2004). 

7 You shall have particular regard to the general duties of directors in Part 10 of 

the Companies Act 2006, including the duty to promote the success of the 

Company under which all directors must act in the way they consider, in good 

faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Company for the 

benefit of its members as a whole. In doing so, as a Director of the Company 

must have regard (among other matters) to: 

(a) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term; 

(b) the interests of the Company's employees (if any); 

(c) the need to foster the Company's business relationships with 

suppliers, customers and others; 

(d) the impact of the Company's operations on the community and the 

environment; 

(e) the desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high 

standards of business conduct; and 

(f) the need to act fairly as between the members of the Company (i.e. 

the Shareholders). 

8 The Company will collect and process information relating to you in 

accordance with the privacy notice which is [on the intranet][annexed to this 

letter][available from [POSITION]] [delete as appropriate] You are required to sign 

and date the privacy notice and return it to [NAME OR POSITION]. 

9 When handling personal data in connection with your appointment by the 

Company on the terms of this letter, you shall comply with the Company's 

data protection policy to include any privacy notices issued by the Company. 

10 You acknowledge that:  

(a) the Company and the Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk 

as the sole Shareholder, are subject to the Freedom of Information Act 

2000 and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004; and 

72



 

37 

 

(b) where either of the Company and the Shareholder are in receipt of a 

request for information under the legislation referred to in paragraph 

10 (a) then it is for the Company or the Shareholder to determine in its 

absolute discretion, subject to the Shareholder Agreement, what 

information, if any, is disclosable. 

11 You will not, whether during the appointment or after its termination, except in 

the proper course of your duties or as required by law, use or divulge, and 

shall use all reasonable endeavours to prevent the use or disclosure of, any 

trade or business secrets or any information concerning the business or 

finances of the Company or of any dealings, transactions, or affairs of the 

Company or any client, customer or supplier of the Company which comes to 

your knowledge during the course of this appointment and will comply with 

the provisions of the confidentiality provisions of the Shareholder Agreement 

as if it applied to you. You will, however, be entitled to disclose information to 

the Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk where this is required to 

enable the Company to comply with the Shareholder Agreement between the 

Company and the Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk. 

12 Your appointment may be terminated or will otherwise cease in accordance 

with the Shareholder Agreement Company’s Articles of Association.  Please 

note that if you cease to be a [Council Officer / Councillor] [delete as appropriate] 

of the Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk then you will cease to 

be a director of the Company at the same time. 

13 In signing this letter, you acknowledge that your office is subject to the terms 

of the Shareholder Agreement and the Company's Articles of Association and 

may be determined as permitted under the terms of the Shareholder 

Agreement and the Articles, and that upon such termination you will vacate 

office in relation to the Company forthwith without raising any claim 

whatsoever against the Company in relation to your vacation of office 

(otherwise than in respect of any properly incurred and unpaid expenses due 

to you from the Company up to the date you vacate your office). 

14 On termination of your appointment, you agree that you will promptly return to 

the Company all papers and property of the Company which are in your 

possession or under your control. 

Please indicate your acceptance and acknowledgement of these terms by signing the 

attached copy and returning it to me. I look forward to seeing you at our next Board 

meeting. 

Yours sincerely 

.................................................. 

Signatory, duly authorised for and on behalf of the Company 

73



 

38 

 

I agree to and acknowledge the terms and conditions set out above relating to my 

appointment as a Director of West Norfolk Property Limited. 

 

.................................................. 

Signed 

Dated 

 

 

74



 

39 

 

SCHEDULE 3 

COUNCIL LETTER OF APPOINTMENT FOR COUNCIL OFFICERS AS 

DIRECTORS (CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS)  

Dear 

Appointment of Council Officers as Directors of West Norfolk Property Limited 

and Conflicts of Interests. 

Thank you for supporting the Council through your agreement to undertake a director 

role on the board of West Norfolk Property Limited (the “Company”). 

Conflicts of Interests 

The Council acknowledges and accepts the conflict of interest that your role as a 

Director of the Company will have with your role as a Council Officer and will require 

you to declare this in future, in accordance with the governance documents, policies 

and procedures of the Company and the Council, for example at the beginning of any 

official meetings. 

This conflict comes about because you have a duty (as a Council Officer)) to act in 

the best interests of the Council but also a duty (as a Director of the Company) to act 

in the best interests of the Company. Therefore, your appointment means that there 

are some aspects of Council decision-making regarding the Company that you may 

not be able to be part of and instead, the Council’s s151 Council Officer or Monitoring 

Council Officer will advise the Council in such matters.  

The Council acknowledges and accepts that when you are acting as a Director of the 

Company that you should always act in the best interests of the Company and in 

compliance with your statutory duties to the Company.  In this context your duty to 

the Company will take precedence over your duty to the Council as a Council Officer.  

Appointment as Director of the Company 

As you have accepted the role of a Director of the Company due to your position and 

employment within the Council, should you leave your employment with the Council 

for any reason then your role as a director of the Company will automatically be 

ended on the same day. 

A copy of this letter will be placed on your personal file. Should you wish to discuss 

this, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

75



 

40 

 

SCHEDULE 4 

COUNCIL LETTER OF APPOINTMENT FOR COUNCILLORS AS DIRECTORS 

(CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS) 

Dear 

Appointment of Councillors as Directors of West Norfolk Property Limited and 

Conflicts of Interests. 

Thank you for supporting the Council through your agreement to undertake a director 

role on the board of West Norfolk Property Limited (the “Company”). 

Conflicts of Interests 

The Council and the Company acknowledge and accept the conflict of interest that 

your role as a Director of the Company will have with your role as a Councillor and 

will require you to declare this in future, in accordance with the governance 

documents, policies and procedures of the Company and the Council, for example at 

the beginning of any official meetings. 

This conflict comes about because as Councillor you have a public law duty always 

to act in the best interests of the Council, and as a Director of the Company also a 

duty to always act in the best interests of the Company. Therefore, you will be unable 

to participate in a decision to be made in the best interests of the Company where 

the decision is, or may be, adverse to your public law duties to the Council. Where 

such an occasion arises this conflict of interests will be managed by the Company’s 

Board in accordance with the Shareholder Agreement between the Council and the 

Company, and Company’s Articles of Association.   

Appointment as Director of the Company 

You have accepted the role of a Director of the Company due to your position as 

Councillor. Should you cease to be a Councillor for whatever reason your role as a 

Director of the Company will automatically be ended on the same day in accordance 

with the Shareholder Agreement and the Articles of Association.  

Should you wish to discuss this, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

76



 

41 

 

SCHEDULE 5 

COMPANY LETTER OF APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS (OTHER THAN A 

COUNCIL OFFICER OR COUNCILLOR) 

Dear  

West Norfolk Property Limited (the "Company") 

1 This letter contains the terms which we have discussed and agreed for your 

appointment as a Director of the Company. You have been appointed by 

ordinary resolution of the Company passed by the Borough Council of King’s 

Lynn & West Norfolk as the sole shareholder of the Company in accordance 

with the Shareholder Agreement between the Borough Council of King’s Lynn 

and the Council, and the Company’s Articles of Association. . 

2 By accepting this appointment as a Director, you agree that this letter is a 

contract for services and is not a contract of employment with the Company 

and you confirm that you are not subject to any restrictions which prevent you 

from holding office as a Director of the Company. 

3 You shall be entitled to such fees / remuneration and expenses in respect of 

your directorship as detail in the annex to this letter.  

4 You will be expected to attend the Board Meetings and General Meetings of 

the Company. You will receive details of all such meetings in advance.  You 

may be required to serve on one or more Board committees. You will be 

provided with the relevant terms of reference on your appointment to such a 

committee. You also may be asked to serve as a director on the board of any 

of the Company’s subsidiaries or joint ventures. Any such appointment will be 

covered in a separate communication. 

5 You are expected to perform your duties as a Director of the Company 

(whether statutory, fiduciary or common law) faithfully, diligently and to a 

standard commensurate with the functions of your role and your knowledge, 

skills and experience. 

6 You shall exercise your powers in your role as a Director of the Company 

having regard to relevant obligations under the prevailing law and regulations. 

including the Companies Act 2006.  The Company is wholly owned by a local 

authority and so is a controlled company within the meaning of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989.  This means that the Company is subject 

to additional obligations, reporting and enhanced transparency (in particular it 

is subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental 

Information Regulations 2004). 

77



 

42 

 

7 You shall have particular regard to the general duties of directors in Part 10 of 

the Companies Act 2006, including the duty to promote the success of the 

Company under which all directors must act in the way they consider, in good 

faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Company for the 

benefit of its members as a whole. In doing so, as a Director of the Company, 

you must have regard (among other matters) to: 

(a) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term; 

(b) the interests of the Company's employees (if any); 

(c) the need to foster the Company's business relationships with 

suppliers, customers and others; 

(d) the impact of the Company's operations on the community and the 

environment; 

(e) the desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high 

standards of business conduct; and 

(f) the need to act fairly as between the members of the Company (i.e. 

the Shareholders). 

8 The Company will collect and process information relating to you in 

accordance with the privacy notice which is [on the intranet OR annexed to 

this letter OR available from [POSITION]]. You are required to sign and date 

the privacy notice and return it to [NAME OR POSITION]. 

9 When handling personal data in connection with your appointment by the 

Company on the terms of this letter, you shall comply with the Company's 

data protection policy to include any privacy notices issued by the Company. 

10 You acknowledge that:  

(a) the Company and the Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk 

as the sole Shareholder, are subject to the Freedom of Information Act 

2000 and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004; and 

(b) where either of the Company and the Shareholder are in receipt of a 

request for information under the legislation referred to in paragraph 

10 (a) then it is for the Company or the Shareholder to determine in its 

absolute discretion, subject to the Shareholder Agreement, what 

information, if any, is disclosable. 

11 You will not, whether during the appointment or after its termination, except in 

the proper course of your duties or as required by law, use or divulge, and 

shall use all reasonable endeavours to prevent the use or disclosure of, any 

78



 

43 

 

trade or business secrets or any information concerning the business or 

finances of the Company or of any dealings, transactions, or affairs of the 

Company or any client, customer or supplier of the Company which comes to 

your knowledge during the course of this appointment and will comply with 

the provisions of the confidentiality provisions  of the Shareholder Agreement 

as if they applied to you. You will, however, be entitled to disclose information 

to the Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk where this is required 

to enable the Company to comply with the Shareholder Agreement between 

the Company and the Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk. 

12 Your appointment may be terminated or will otherwise cease in accordance 

with the Shareholder Agreement and the Articles of Association.   

13 In signing this letter, you acknowledge that your office is subject to the terms 

of the Shareholder Agreement and the Articles of Association and may be 

determined as permitted under the terms of the Shareholder Agreement and 

the Articles of Association, and that upon such termination you will vacate 

office in relation to the Company forthwith without raising any claim 

whatsoever against the Company in relation to your vacation of office 

(otherwise than in respect of any properly incurred and unpaid expenses due 

to you from the Company up to the date you vacate your office). 

14 On termination of your appointment, you agree that you will promptly return to 

the Company all papers and property of the Company which are in your 

possession or under your control. 

Please indicate your acceptance and acknowledgement of these terms by signing the 

attached copy and returning it to me. I look forward to seeing you at our next Board 

meeting. 

Yours sincerely 

.................................................. 

Signatory, duly authorised for and on behalf of the Company 

 

I agree to and acknowledge the terms and conditions set out above relating to my 

appointment as a Director of West Norfolk Property Limited. 

 

.................................................. 

Signed 

Dated 

79



 

44 

 

THE COMMON SEAL of THE BOROUGH COUNCIL OF KING’S LYNN & WEST 

NORFOLK  

was affixed to this Deed in the presence of: 

 

 

……………………………………………………. 

Authorised Signatory 

 

 

Executed as a DEED by WEST NORFOLK PROPERTY LIMITED 

Acting by [                                     ], a director  

 

…………………………………… 

       Director 

 

 

Acting by [                                  ], a director 

 

…………………………………… 

       Director 

 

        

 

 

 

 

80


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the previous meeting
	3 Declarations of Interest
	7 Committee Forward Plan
	8 Update on closure of Alive Management Ltd
	9 Update on insourcing of Alive West Norfolk Ltd
	Exit Management Plan Version 1 - 11 November

	10 Appointment of Directors to West Norfolk Housing
	11 West Norfolk Property Shareholder Agreement

